
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 24 January 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Culture and 
Visitor 
Economy 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Tuesday, 1 February 2022 at 10.00 am 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Judy Stevens (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Robins (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

Agenda 
 

1.   Comments from Members of the Public 
To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 September 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

5.   Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre on 30 
November 2021 
 

(Pages 11 - 26) 

6.   Updates from the previous meeting 
To consider actions agreed at the meeting held on 8 September 2021.  
 

(Page 27) 

7.   Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators – Mid Year Update and 
Outcome of Review 
This mid-year update report outlines South Kesteven District Councils 
performance against the Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) for the first half of 2021/22. 
 

(Pages 29 - 48) 

8.   Merits of a Council-run Deeping Market 
This report provides an overview in relation to the issues and 
opportunities specific to a council-run market in the Deepings. 
 

(Pages 49 - 54) 

9.   Welcome Back Fund Update and Next Steps 
To review proposed activities alongside partners and the progress made 
to date regarding the Welcome Back Fund, which is focused on attracting 
residents to South Kesteven towns and helping to grow the local 
economy following the impacts of the coronavirus pandemic. 
 

(Pages 55 - 70) 

10.   Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021 – 2022. 
 

(Pages 71 - 75) 

11.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 

Action notes 
 

Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday, 8 September 2021, 10:00  
 

Council Chamber, South Kesteven 
House, St St Peter’s Hill, Grantham. 
NG31 6PZ  

 

 

 

 

Committee Members Present 
 

Councillor Judy Stevens (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Robins (Vice Chairman) 
 

Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

 
Cabinet Members present 
 

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources) 
 

Members in attendance 
 

Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Breda - Rae Griffin  
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
 
 

Officers 
 

Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Alison Hall – Wright (Head of Finance) 
Graham Watts (Head of Democratic Services) 
Debbie Roberts (Interim Organisation Development and Change Manager) 
Claire Saunders (Heritage Action Zone Project Manager) 
Susie McCahon (Team Leader Leisure Services) 
Emma Sharpe (Leisure Officer) 
Jon Hinde (InvestSK Ltd Manager) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 

 

 

15. Comments from Members of the Public 
 
No comments were received. 
 

16. Apologies for absence 
 
All Committee Members were present. 

3

Agenda Item 4



 

 

17. Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were none. 
 

18. Action Notes from the meeting held on 22 June 2021 
 
A member raised a concern regarding the Tourism Strategy Update and the 
timeframe on which the report would be presented to the Committee. Officers 
confirmed that there had been a recent transition of officers in the team and gave an 
assurance that this would be dealt with as a priority once the new employee was in 
place. 
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the minutes of the meeting held on 22 
June 2021 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

19. Action Notes from the extraordinary meeting held on 3 August 2021 
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the minutes of the meeting held on 3 
August 2021 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

20. LeisureSK Ltd Performance Report, September 2021 
 
The Director of Growth and Culture presented the report to Members. This included 
an overview of the performance in relation to LeisureSK Ltd since the 
commencement of their management of the council’s leisure centres in January 
2021. The delivery of the Council’s priorities set out in the Corporate Plan (2020 to 
2023) remained a key focus. The main details were outlined as follows: 
 
- Customer throughputs were approximately 50% of their number pre-covid, 

although, it was gradually improving.  
- Grantham Meres Leisure Centre was still being used by the NHS as a Covid-19 

Vaccination Centre which had supported a highly successful vaccine rollout 
within Lincolnshire.  

 
One Member raised their concerns over when the facilities at the Deepings Leisure 
Centre would re-open and felt that this had a negative impact on the leisure provision 
across South Kesteven. The Chairman confirmed that this had been debated at 
length at the meeting of Full Council on 2 September 2021 and a full update on 
Deepings Leisure Centre would be provided to Members at a joint meeting of the 
Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
No date for the meeting had been set but it was due to take place in November 2021. 
 
Members discussed their concerns over the cleanliness and standards of the 
Council’s Leisure Centres and queried how often the LeisureSK Ltd team monitored 
and visited all the centres to ensure standards were being met and maintained. A 
query was raised regarding the cleaning rotas following comments made from public 
regarding cleanliness. 
 

4



 

 

The Leisure Officer present highlighted that as part of the LeisureSK Ltd contract, the 
team visited the centres at least once a month and the frequency of those visits 
would start to increase. It was also highlighted that informal visits and spot checks 
take place. The Leisure Officer spoke of the importance of the rota and highlighted 
that hourly checks were completed by staff.  
 
One member raised their concerns over the results from the public satisfaction 
survey. It was queried what would be done to address the low satisfaction rate of 
Stamford Leisure Pool when Deepings Leisure Centre had the highest satisfaction 
rate but was now closed, with residents from The Deepings now being advised to 
travel to Bourne and Stamford. Officers confirmed that following feedback, all 
customers were invited to attend customer forums where feedback could be 
addressed and there would be ongoing questionnaires to see if customer satisfaction 
was improving.  
 
Another Member raised a query regarding the sample size of the customer 
satisfaction survey and how the data was captured of which the Leisure Officer would 
send additional details to the Committee following the meeting. Officers confirmed 
that an online survey had been conducted for the customer satisfaction survey 
independently and that the number of customers who responded was available to 
Members. It was highlighted that the team were exploring other options as to how 
they could receive feedback.  
 
The Leisure Officer highlighted that the LeisureSK Ltd staff conducted different roles, 
meaning that leisure attendance staff would also conduct cleaning as part of their 
day-to-day duties.  
 
It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

21. Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 
 
The Director of Growth and Culture presented the report which set out the Council’s 
draft Sport and Physical Activity Strategy. It was reported that developing and 
adopting a Sport and Physical Activity Strategy was a commitment within the 
Council’s Corporate Plan. The Strategy aimed to positively impact the health and 
well-being of people in the district and to reduce any barriers to participation, helping 
tackle the inequalities seen in all aspects of health and well-being.  
 
A Member highlighted that a key theme in the Strategy was to ‘invest in our leisure 
facilities to ensure the needs of customers are met’. The Member raised their 
concerns of the recent closure of Deepings Leisure Centre and reinstated their view 
that no commitment from the Council had been given to re-open the existing leisure 
centre or build a replacement.  
 
The Chairman spoke of the previous extraordinary Full Council meeting which had 
previously taken place where this matter was discussed at length. The Chairman 
stated this would soon be discussed at a joint meeting with the Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

5



 

 

Members noted the action plan and considered whether the actions could be 
achieved.  
 
One Member discussed whether the funding of grants for community groups would 
be applicable for communities that did not have facilities available and whether 
transport services could be provided for residents to access leisure services to 
ensure affordability and accessibility. 
 
Officers confirmed that the Strategy mentioned ‘outreach work’ meaning other leisure 
activities that took place in rural areas and utilised green spaces. The Officer 
highlighted that ongoing projects were taking place with Lincolnshire County Council.  
 
Members discussed the importance of inclusion from the Council and that they would 
like to see more ‘joined up thinking’. 
 
Officers confirmed that they were working with Active Lincolnshire who were already 
updating their club and activity finder, which would include activities in the Council’s 
leisure centres and sport clubs in the community.  
 
The Chairman highlighted that the Deepings had a fitness “trim trail” on Jubilee Park 
that had recently been installed and could be used as a focal point for some 
community activities which could be initiated by the Council.  
 
One member highlighted that the County Council operated the Call Connect service 
and noted the possibility for this to be used to enable the Deepings community to 
access leisure centres in Bourne or Stamford.  
The Director of Growth and Culture highlighted that Lincolnshire County Council are 
currently working on a bus improvement strategy which could provide opportunities to 
integrate into the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy.  
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that Cabinet be recommended to adopt for 
the draft Sport and Physical Activity Strategy as the Council’s strategic document to 
underpin the corporate priority of Healthy and Strong Communities.  
 

22. Update report on Grantham High Street Heritage Action Zone Project 
 
The Director for Growth and Culture introduced and presented the report which 
updated the Committee on the latest position regarding Historic England’s High 
Street Heritage Action Zones scheme.  
 
The Heritage Action Zone Project Manager gave a presentation to the Committee, 
with key points noted as follows: 
 
- The scheme would run until April 2024 
- It focussed on the core of the retail town centre within the conservation area 

and areas around St Wulframs church and Grantham house that held the 
majority of Grantham grade one listed buildings.  

- Total funding from Historic England was £887,000 
- Over the four year period, around £376,000 had been match funded by SKDC. 
- Nationally across England, 48% of retail premises were historic properties.  

6



 

 

- 104 listed buildings/monuments were currently within Grantham’s Heritage 
Action Zone. 

 
One Member asked how it was determined which properties were to be looked at in 
the scheme and how that would affect new shops coming into the town centre. 
Officers confirmed that Historic England had an eligibility criteria on the properties, 
restricted to those built before 1939 which limited certain areas of the town centre. 
The Officer highlighted that the team would be updating the shop front design guide.  
 
Another Member raised a query on the plans to move this scheme onto the rest of 
the District and if the funding was eligible for other areas of South Kesteven. 
 
Officers confirmed that as part of the Corporate Plan, this scheme would be looked 
into being extended to other parts of the District.  
 
The Officer highlighted that the Grantham Community Heritage Association operated 
Grantham Museum. They were part of the cultural consortium programme and the 
team was working with them to look at how community engagement work and the 
wider cultural work, together with specific work on projects, could be more 
collaborative.  
 
The Chairman noted the possible opportunity of the national Heritage Lottery Fund 
for Grantham museum and whether there was to be a separate organisation to deal 
with the museum. 
 
The Heritage Action Zone Project Manager highlighted that this was a possibility. 
However, careful consideration would have to be taken in regards to the Grantham 
Heritage Action Zone and the cultural programme as the national heritage lottery 
fund currently contributed and there is a risk of double funding.  
 
Officers highlighted that this had potential to be considered as a legacy project that 
could run alongside each other.  
 
Members thanked officers for their impressive work on this scheme. 
 
It was AGREED that the report and presentation be noted. 
 

23. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
 
The Chairman highlighted the review of local outdoor markets and it was AGREED 
that a working party be established to take this forward. The working party consisted 
of Councillor Paul Fellows, Councillor Penny Robins, Councillor Mrs Judy Smith, 
Councillor Judy Stevens, Councillor Jill Thomas and Councillor Amanda Wheeler. 
 
The Committee received and noted the Work Programme 2021-2022. 
 

24. Arts, Culture and Events Service - Service Review and Staffing Restructure 
 
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy presented a report which 
updated Members with a final copy of an independent review of the Arts, Culture and 

7



 

 

Events Service. The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy assured the 
Committee that no arts venues were at risk of closure.  
 
The report addressed the additional information requested by Members, which 
included: 
 
- The financial challenges facing local government.  
- The review undertaken by sports, leisure and cultural consultancy, which was 

not reliant purely on hard data.  
- Key members of the arts team had shared their knowledge since the  

publication of the report.  
- Strong desire to ensure a vibrant programme was maintained and developed.  
- Continuing with an existing level of subsidy that ran to around 11% of the 

Council’s total budget being unsustainable.  
- The staffing structure needed to represent value for money and be more fit for 

purpose.  
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED. 
 
DECISIONS: 
 
1. That the Committee, over the next year, reviews the three centres (Bourne, 

Grantham and Stamford), with a view to determining a future operating 
model to enable the Council to decide on the direction of the Arts, Culture, 
and Events Service in terms of objectives, who to target and the 
development of key performance indicators. 

 

2. For Officers to return to the Committee during the next year with more 
detail regarding the different ways the Arts, Culture and Events Services 
could be delivered in the future. 

 

3. At the appropriate time, that the Committee supports the preparation of an 
amended Arts and Culture Strategy to clarify exactly what it is the Council 
wishes to achieve. 

 
In considering the final recommendation contained within the report and the 
associated appendix, it was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting during the discussion of this item of business 
due to the likelihood that information that was exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it contained 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).  
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the Committee recommends Option 2 
to Cabinet, as set out in the report, as a proposed staffing restructure for the Arts and 
Culture Event Service. 
 
 

25. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances 
decides is urgent 
 
There were none. 
 

8



 

 

26. Close of meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 12:04.  
 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



 

 

Minutes  
 

Joint Scrutiny  
 

Tuesday, 30 November 2021 
 

Council Chamber - South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Joint Scrutiny Members present 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Graham Jeal 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Penny Robins 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
 

Other Members in attendance 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Breda – Rae Griffin  
Councillor Sue Woolley 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Cabinet Members in attendance 
Councillor Kelham Cooke (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Cabinet Member for Leisure) 
Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope – Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy) 
 
Officers in attendance 
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer) 
Karen Whitfield (Head of Arts and Leisure) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

11

Agenda Item 5



 

1. Apologies for absence 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Amanda Wheeler, Councillor 
David Bellamy, Councillor Susan Sandall and Councillor Judy Smith.  

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Amanda 
Wheeler.  

 
Councillor Hilary Westropp had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor David 
Bellamy.  

 
Councillor Helen Crawford had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Judy 
Smith.  

 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Susan 
Sandall. 

 
2. Declarations of interest 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter declared that he had been a user of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre and his family continue to be members of the Deepings Swimming Club. 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks highlighted that the Deepings Leisure Centre was in the 
Council ward where he lived. He declared that he was a Parish Councillor that had 
an interest in the Leisure Centre and that he had been elected as a County 
Councillor for The Deepings East Division. Councillor Dilks also held a family 
membership at the Deepings Leisure Centre when it was open and had been an 
occasional user of the Centre for over 40 years.  

 
Further to a question, the Leader of the Council declared that the Conservative 
Group had not been ‘whipped’ in relation to this item. 

 
The Deputy Group Leader for the Independent Group declared that the Independent 
Group had also not been ‘whipped’.   

 
3. Public Speaking 

 
Eileen Gray 

 
Eileen Gray made the following statement: 
 
“I am a resident of Market Deeping and long-term user of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre for over forty years.  In July when the Leisure Centre was closed, forty years 
of my life was taken away from me.  I have used the Centre as a member of staff, a 
teacher, a member and instructor of the life-saving club and many other avenues.  I 
am heartbroken that this has happened.  I swam for an hour a day and now have to 
go to Spalding to continue this.  People using this facility include an amputee, an 

12



octogenarian, a lady in remission of cancer and a carer receiving one hour respite 
from caring.  Why are these people being denied these facilities.  Perhaps you can 
tell me?” 

 
Jack Little 

 
Jack Little made the following statement: 

 

“I am a resident of Deeping St James and have been for the last decade and I have 
enjoyed the facilities throughout that time.  Sadly since 2013 there has been no 
dialogue and virtually zero action regarding a replacement Leisure Centre.  I am 
pleased that today there are positive options on the table and I would implore 
Councillors to select option 3 as the best investment for the future – the next 25 
years.  Option 2 may seem like a nice option, costing less, however, we know that 
in 20 years’ time there will need to be a plan in place for a new Leisure Centre.  I 
have spent a lifetime in sport since the age of seven and until now as a coach, 
participant, competitor and member of various club committees.  It is really 
important that this facility is made available again as soon as humanly possible.  I 
see that target dates have been set, which is good.  I am also very pleased to see 
that the project application with the football foundation is also contained within the 
papers, which is direly required.  Local team players are leaving for other training 
facilities with floodlights.  I also note that a core part of the proposals is dependent 
on an agreed lease of land by schools and I do hope this is taken incredibly 
seriously as agreement is vital for success.” 

  
Peter Gray 

 
Peter Gray made the following statement: 

 

“All of the three options that have been thrown into the arena are a distraction from 
what is going on.  It tends to divide and conquer people as you get different views 
coming through.  Initially I thought that the Leisure Centre should get repaired 
because it is needed now.  In hindsight, I thought that maybe I was being selfish.  I 
am in my 75th year and use the Leisure Centre four times a week for swimming.  
However, this doesn’t affect just me, there are kids within the swimming club that 
start to blossom and have a three year window to access the best training possible 
to make the most of their opportunities.  I am concerned also about the lack of 
disclosure from involved private companies.  This is a serious issue.” 

 
Robbie Tyler 

 
Robbie Tyler made the following statement: 

 
“I’ve been in The Deepings all my life, I am a martial arts trainer and fitness 
instructor so am heavily involved in the leisure industry.  The closure of the 
Deepings Leisure Centre has impacted our club massively.  We train two to three 
classes a night, Monday to Friday.  We have gradings, seminars and other things 
going on.  We have been able to find a small space to continue classes but not to 
the same level as before.  We have had students get to world championship level 

13



and those opportunities will start dropping back if we don’t get facilities soon.  We 
are not the only club affected, some have had to move areas and some clubs have 
been lost.  The quicker these facilities can return, the better.” 

 
4. Deepings Leisure Centre 

 
The Joint Scrutiny Committee considered a comprehensive report which provided 
Members with the background relating to The Deepings Leisure Centre and options 
available relating to the provision of a Leisure Centre in The Deepings. 

 
In presenting the report, Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure, 
made the following points: 

 

•   Investing in high quality leisure facilities across the District was a key part of the 
Council’s corporate ambition and a vital part of achieving this was good quality 
facilities which were sustainable and met customer expectations. 

•   He had been the Portfolio Holder for Leisure since January last year and was 
personally committed to delivering on the ambitious leisure improvement plans 
which this Council had previously announced. As part of this, the Deepings area 
was prioritised for investment due to the age and condition of the existing Leisure 
Centre. 

•   Over the course of the last two years, a significant amount of work had been 
undertaken to identify the feasibility of providing a New Leisure Centre for the 
Deepings area. The report documented the Council’s journey in this respect and 
provided information on each of the schemes considered, together with the resulting 
impact on the Council’s General Fund revenue budgets. 

•   Whilst a new build for the Deepings area was once considered affordable, this was 
sadly no longer the case. 

•   The Council finds itself in extremely challenging financial times. Whilst some of this 
was a direct result of reduced funding from Central Government, the impact of 
Covid-19 on the Council’s finances could not be under-estimated. This has resulted 
in a significant reduction in the Council’s income, and its reserves have been put 
under pressure as it had supported local residents, businesses and staff. The 
Council had to align its diminished resources for the benefit of all residents across 
the District.  That being said, due to the temporary closure of the existing Leisure 
Centre, the Deepings area was currently without any leisure provision. 

•   Since the meeting of Full Council on 2 September a full range of building and land 
surveys had taken place on the existing facility, and experts had been 
commissioned to bring forward options for refurbishment and the associated 
business plans. Four options had been identified, one of which included a full 
remodel and refurbishment of the existing centre which would meet the evidenced 
need, whilst providing residents of the Deepings with a facility which had the look 
and feel of a new centre. 

•   As a refurbishment of this magnitude and cost would still be a significant 
undertaking for the Council, any investment approved would require the Council to 
review its spending priorities to account for the cost of borrowing. No investment 
would be possible, however, without the Council gaining a legal interest in the 

14



existing building. Although there had been good progress, there was still work to do 
in this regard. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure introduced David Rushton from Sports and Leisure 
Consultancy (SLC), who provided details of the work SLC had been undertaking 
with the Council. The work included the formation of LeisureSK Ltd, a Council 
owned company to manage the Council’s Leisure provision, after the contract had 
ceased with the previous provider, OneLife. 

 
Paul Weston of Paul Weston Architects introduced himself to Members and 
provided details of the experience of his company, which included feasibility studies 
working alongside SLC. Options costs that had been prepared were prudent, taking 
into account a timescale and how inflation could have an impact through the project.  

 
The report set out that the Deepings Leisure Centre had been temporarily closed 
since July 2021, due to significant health and safety concerns.  An extraordinary 
meeting of Full Council was held on 2 September 2021 where it was agreed that a 
joint meeting of the Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services and 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committees would be held to 
consider the future of the Deepings Leisure Centre and make recommendations on 
the preferred options to Cabinet on 7 December 2021. A final decision would be 
taken at a further extraordinary meeting of Full Council, scheduled for 14 December 
2021.  

 
The South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) Corporate Plan (2020-2023) 
recognised the role facilities played to inspire residents to take part in sport and 
physical activity. The Council had four Leisure Centres within its portfolio, which 
helped contribute towards the promotion of Healthy and Stronger Communities.  

 
The Deepings Leisure Centre was built and opened in 1974, since that time it had 
been managed by SKDC, the land and the building were owned by Lincolnshire 
County Council (LCC). There had never been any formal leasehold arrangements in 
place between SKDC and LCC, which meant the responsibilities of each 
organisation had not been documented. The facilities were shared with the 
Deepings School (part of the Anthem Trust), who had use of the sports hall, playing 
fields and swimming pool during term time, with the fee paid for that use equating to 
£35,600 for 2021/22.   

 
In 2014 LCC withdrew its maintenance contribution of £124,000 and notified the 
Council that the land and buildings would be transferred to the Anthem Trust, as 
part of the Academy’s transfer process. Subsequently the Council was advised that 
it was necessary to secure a leasehold interest directly with the Anthem Trust. To 
date the transfer had not been completed and was currently in progress.  
Unfortunately, despite numerous attempts to agree terms, a lease between the 
Anthem Trust and the Council was not in place. This had meant that since 2014 the 
Council had been solely responsible for the maintenance and repair of the Deepings 
Leisure Centre.   

 

15



Previous feasibility work had been undertaken, which was reported to Members in 
2013. Consultants were engaged to identify schemes of refurbishment, should a 
lease be secured. There had been an anticipation that, without investments, the 
existing Leisure Centre would close in 2016.  

 
In 2018 Mace Ltd had been commissioned on behalf of InvestSK Ltd (a Council 
owned company) and undertook an initial assessment of all four of the Leisure 
Centres within the Council’s Portfolio. On 7 March 2019, Cabinet received a report 
titled ‘Enhancing Leisure Opportunities for Everyone’.  The report included the 
results of the feasibility work and a range of options for the development and 
refurbishment of the facilities within the portfolio.  

 
In May 2020, to ensure that a robust structure was in place for the decisions around 
the facilities, a project team was formed. This team included: 
the Chief Executive, Strategic Director for Growth, Section 151 Officer, Director of 
Law and Governance and Head of Leisure. Additionally, a Leisure Improvement 
Board was formed comprising key Cabinet Members; The Leader, Cabinet Member 
for Leisure, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Visitor Economy.   

 
Members received a briefing on 20 October 2020, which provided an update on the 
improvement plans and feasibility work undertaken for the leisure portfolio. The 
briefing also included the scale of work involved and the challenges the Council 
faced in terms of affordability. The Leisure Improvement Board advised Members 
that improvement schemes would need to be prioritised, with the Deepings Leisure 
Centre being the key priority.  

 
In May 2020, the Council commissioned Paul Weston Architect to provide a check 
and challenge to the original feasibility work undertaken by Mace Ltd and to explore 
alternatives.  

 
Supported by SLC, an assessment was undertaken of the local and latent demand 
for a new facility within the Deepings, to assist with the development of any 
business plans. In September 2019 a location had been identified for a replacement 
facility at Linchfield Road Playing Field in Deeping St. James.  

 
The Council undertook work with Sport England, using their Facility Planning Model. 
Taking all information into account, Paul Weston prepared two schemes and a site 
masterplan, which included required facilities, financial planning and a business 
plan.  

 
In late 2020 an opportunity arose to explore an alternative site for a new Deepings 
Leisure Centre, a prominent position within the Northfield Industrial Estate in Market 
Deeping, where the Landis & Gyr building was situated. A feasibility study of the site 
was undertaken, which was compared against the Lichfield Road scheme. The 
study found the building was a good standard, however a number of issues would 
have to be addressed. Members were provided with details of a comparison 
between the two sites which was set out in paragraph 1.47 of the report.  

16



 
During the feasibility work being undertaken, the Council had been advised that 
there may be insufficient demand for a large-scale facility. SLC were therefore 
commissioned to produce a business plan for a smaller scale facility, considering 
local demand.  

 
On 29 July 2021 the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council 
and the Cabinet Member for Leisure, using emergency powers within the Council’s 
Constitution at Article 16, closed the Deepings Leisure Centre due to significant 
health and safety concerns. 

 
LCC, as the current owner of the building, carried out an initial condition survey. The 
survey identified that approximately £1.2 million of work would be required to rectify 
some of the identified issues.   

 
Given the previous work around the Leisure Centre, Paul Weston and Caston Cost 
Consultants were commissioned to provide an opinion on LCC’s findings and 
consideration on how to extend the life of the building for a further 25 years. These 
findings were reported to Members at the extraordinary meeting of Full Council, 
held on 2 September 2021.   

 
The closure of the Deepings Leisure Centre had impacted the operation of the 
Deepings School and the delivery of their curriculum. Customers who had used the 
facility had been encouraged to use one of the three other Leisure Centres within 
the District.  

 
Members were provided with details of refurbishment options and anticipated 
timelines, ranging from a basic refurbishment of the existing building to a full 
remodelling and refurbishment. 

 
The Football Foundation had identified the Deepings areas as an area of priority for 
the development of a 3G pitch. Previous discussion had taken place with the 
Football Foundation regarding the opportunity to apply for grant funding to develop 
the pitch on the Linchfield Road Playing Fields. It would be proposed to replace the 
old astroturf pitch with an allocated budget of £700,000, £200,000 of which would 
be funded by the Council, to allow for the match funding required of any application. 
It had been confirmed that the Football Foundation would welcome an application in 
either April or July 2022.  

 
Following the extraordinary meeting of Full Council on 2 September 2021, the 
Leader of LCC had offered to transfer the freehold of the Deepings Leisure Centre 
to the Council for £1. The Council had been keen to explore that possibility, 
however it was proven to not be possible under the provision of the Academies Act. 
A lease between the Anthem Trust and the Council would still require the 
permission of the Department for Education and should it be approved a Service 
Level Agreement would be required.  

 

17



On 14 October 2021 Members were provided with a briefing session which 
presented details of the feasibility work that had been undertaken. Members had 
also been invited to tour the OneNK Centre in North Hykeham, which had 
previously been refurbished. The OneNK Centre was a similar build and age as the 
Deepings Leisure Centre and Paul Weston had been the lead Architect on that 
project.  

 
As this stage of proceedings, commencing debate on the content of the report, the 
Chairman invited questions on sections (a), (b) and (c) on the agenda. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure informed Members that the Landis & Gyr site had 
been sold for a higher price than offered by SKDC this option would no longer be 
available.  

 
Several questions or comments were raised by a Member to the Cabinet Member 
for Leisure, as follows: 

 

•   When had it been first suggested that if the Council had to rely on reserves and 
borrowing the new centre would not be affordable? 

•   Why had a leaflet produced by Councillor Barry Dobson in May 2021 included a 
statement within it that a new leisure centre would be created, with land secured? 

•   Members had not been made aware that in February 2020 the second Mace Report 
had made it clear that previous election promises were unaffordable. 

•   A Cabinet meeting suggested that the Councillor Barry Dobson had attended all 
Leisure Centres within South Kesteven. However, having approached Councillor 
Dobson requesting what date he had attended the Deepings Leisure Centre, he 
reported that he had not visited the Deepings Leisure Centre and stated that it was 
to be demolished.   

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure responded to the questions and comments raised, 
as follows: 

 

•   The Linchfield Road playing fields site had been agreed in principle for a new 
Leisure Centre. At the time of the meeting, the Council had been looking to fund a 
new leisure facility using prudential borrowing, local priority reserves and a capital 
receipt, which would now no longer be possible due to solely having to rely on 
prudential borrowing to fund a new leisure centre, creating a significant revenue 
pressure for SKDC. 

•   The Mace Report had not been commissioned by himself. Questions were raised 
regarding this report at the time and experts were involved to assess the options 
available. The Deepings had been chosen as the preferred site to locate a new 
leisure centre. 

•   He had not visited the Deepings Leisure Centre at that time. He had been made 
aware, however, that the changing rooms needed to be repaired and upgraded. 

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services why a new 
centre had never been included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy, which 
would be required, if a new centre had any potential. 

18



 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services, stated 
that a new build scheme would only be incorporated into the Council’s budget and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy if relevant scoping and feasibility work had been 
undertaken. The impact of COVID-19 and changes to external funding had affected 
the financial landscape for the Council. 

 
A Member asked the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Leisure why the 
Council was no longer able to use the capital receipts, prudential borrowing and 
local priority reserves towards the cost of a new Leisure Centre. 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council, took this opportunity to declare 
that he had trained and used Deepings Leisure Centre over a number of years. 

 
The Leader highlighted the need to balance the way the Council provided leisure 
services across the wider area. He underlined the ambition to replace the leisure 
centre in the Deepings, however, the finance mechanism that had been previously 
used would be around the private sector finance, to which this investment into the 
leisure market had now been diminished.  

 
A Member asked Paul Weston at what point in time had refurbishment options been 
explored rather than new build options and why the Landis and Gyr site had not 
been progressed. 

 
Mr Weston stated that he had prepared the Landis & Gyr option prior to the national 
lockdown. In terms of the sequencing, the refurbishment and remodel options for 
Deepings Leisure Centre, this had been prepared over the past four months.  

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Leisure whether he had noticed the 
condition of the boilers on his visit to the Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 
Councillor Barry Dobson explained that he did not attend the Deepings Leisure 
Centre with other members of the Deepings when the condition of the boilers had 
been highlighted. 

 
A Member, in stating that recovery of the leisure sector was currently at 74%, asked 
David Rushton whether aspects of leisure were recovering from the impact of 
Covid. 

 
Mr Rushton confirmed that swimming was recovering well, particularly swimming 
lessons due to a good level of demand. However, it had not recovered fully 
potentially due to the age profile. The area of concern had been health and fitness 
due to being a lucrative element of a leisure service.  

 
A Member asked the Council’s Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 
Officer the following questions: 

 

19



•   How did the minimum revenue provision work and what impact upon the Council’s 
revenue budget would this have going forward? 

•   Could he explain the financial affordability of a new build and the impact on the rest 
of the District? 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer clarified the options 
available in terms of affordability. The different increases of council tax for each 
option were outlined, to which endorsement from residents would be taken into 
account.  

 
A Member asked Paul Weston if a major refurbishment of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre would be the only way forward or is a ‘patch up’ option available to prolong 
the current centres lifespan by five or ten years. 

 
Mr Weston clarified that the ‘patch up’ option was Option A as set out in the report. 
Option A dealt with the building’s failures currently and did not provide any different 
facilities, however, would last 25 years. He highlighted the opportunity for a remodel 
as the current structure of the building and the pool tanks were in good condition. 
By remodelling the current building, it would provide all the facilities of a new build 
but at a lower cost.  

 
A Member sought clarity on the following issues: 

 

•   The viability of new leisure centres in the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

•   The expense of a new leisure centre prior to Covid-19. 

•   The point in which the current leisure centre industry was in turmoil.  

•   Clarity on whether the Cabinet Member for Leisure did attend the Leisure Centre 

and view the boilers. 

•   The use of capital receipts from Stamford. 

•   When architects were investigating Landis & Gyr and the Linchfield Road site, why 

no other options were put forward following a remodel to reduce the cost. 

Councillor Dobson confirmed that he had visited the boiler room in the Deepings 
Leisure Centre and had confirmed that one of the boilers was already defunct, with 
the two boilers being of the same age. 

 
The Chairman invited Members to consider section (d) of the agenda at this stage 
of proceedings. 

 
Councillor Dobson confirmed that the Council had been in discussion with LCC, 
who owned the building, and the lease agreement was ongoing between SKDC and 
the Anthem Trust.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that an agreed Heads of Terms had been 
confirmed with the Anthem Trust which would go to the Trustees for approval in due 
course. It was highlighted that the school did not want to take on the lease of the 
existing building in its current condition. However, an agreement for lease would be 
possible which would rely upon practical completion and specification of the work 

20



intended. The Council would be protected by having a legally binding agreement in 
place.  

 
Members raised concerns as to what could happen in eight years’ time, for 
example, if a lease could not be agreed and what the respective options would be 
available. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that until the Council agreed the Heads of 
Terms of a lease and a refurbishment option, these conversations could not be held 
with the Anthem Trust.   

 
A Member asked the Head of Arts and Leisure to confirm the timescale in which the 
Department for Education would correspond back to the Council. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure explained that there had been significant pressure 
from the Department for Education on LCC and the Anthem Trust to resolve 
matters. LCC had reassured SKDC that this issue would be expedited.  

 
A Member asked the Head of Arts and Leisure to confirm whether the refurbishment 
option would be looked into should the school decide not to renew its lease.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the Council would not invest into the 
Centre without a lease.  

 
A Member asked for clarification as to how long the lease would continue for and a 
negotiation timeframe. 

 
It was noted that the lease from LCC to the school would be 125 years as it must be 
on standard academy terms. 

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Leisure what steps had been taken at 
LCC to attempt to resolve the lease situation and confirmation of the possible 
timescale of contractors starting work once a decision had been made. 

 
Councillor Dobson was unable to answer this question but stated. However, he 
stated for the record that in his time as a County Councillor he had attended the 
majority of Deeping St James Parish Council meetings in the years 2017-2021. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that the lease between LCC and the Anthem 
Trust would have to take place in parallel and that those negotiations were well 
advanced. The two agreements would be entered in concurrently.  

 
The Chairman invited Members to discuss items (e), (f), (g) and (h) of the agenda at 
this stage of proceedings. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the school had requested additional 
work to be undertaken such as a resurfacing of car park, a new incoming water 
main and bollards at the entrance gates.  

21



 
A Member shared his disappointment over the selling of the Landis & Gyr site. He 
stated that the report outlined the comparisons of the Landis & Gyr site for 
refurbishment with a new build and did not mention renovating the existing 
Deepings Leisure Centre.  

 
Clarification was sought as to how the costings of the options available had been 
calculated. 

 
Mr Weston confirmed that at the start of the project he looked at the needs 
assessment as if it was to be a new build and how this could be related to the 
existing building. He highlighted the problems of the existing building, specifically 
accommodation for people on the first-floor level which comprised a very small gym 
space. Mr Weston highlighted the aspects of each of the options available and the 
difference in costings. 

 
Mr Rushton commented on the business planning of the options. He stressed that 
all options and business plans factored in the relaunch of the Centre including its 
memberships and swimming lessons. He also outlined that the financial model of a 
Leisure Centre was dependant on health and fitness income, swimming income and 
swimming lesson income. These three components determined the financial 
performance of a Leisure Centre, based on the catchment area and customer 
demand.  

 
The Chief Executive noted that in paragraph 1.22 of the report, the needs analysis 
had been provided where the demographics of the area were investigated to identify 
the needs of the area for these facilities. It was highlighted that the Anthem Trust 
were in use of the playing fields, sports hall and the swimming pool and that the 
refurbishment options available included the Anthem Trust still having access to 
these. 

 
A Member asked Paul Weston the following questions: 

 

•   When SKDC was exploring new build options on Linchfield Road and the Landis & 
Gyr site, why was a recommendation not made regarding a new build centre? 

•   Why did the costs of Option A appear higher than the £1.5 million that LCC’s 
condition survey originally stated? 

•   Could he confirm the cost and timescale of a basic refurbishment as set out in 
Option A? 

•   If the Council did agree to undertake a refurbishment rather than a new build, what 
would the arrangement be with the school and how would the partnership be 
managed? 

•   Could he confirm the management of cost and maintenance of the shared use car 
park? 

•   Would there be an impact on income in respect of the lease of school fields? 

•   If the refurbishment of the existing centre went ahead, would the refurbishment be 
phased? 

•   Could he confirm figures based around the demand of Deepings Leisure Centre? 

22



 
Mr Weston confirmed he had prepared and presented refurbishment options in 
2013 to SKDC. He highlighted an issue raised that a new build could be built whilst 
the existing Leisure Centre remained in operation. He stated that a basic 
refurbishment option would be based on a 25-year lifespan, which was used to 
judge the selection of materials and how long they would last. The work that had 
been completed around Option A was based on the new condition survey which 
produced more evidenced information.   

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the proposed lease would include the 
Leisure Centre building and the playing fields. It was highlighted that the school 
would still require the use of the sports hall and playing fields during day term time, 
however, the proposal included a payment from the school. Alongside this, a 
Service Level Agreement could be developed which would detail the payments and 
how they would be calculated.  

 
It was noted that a phased delivery could be something that the Council 
investigated, however, the current costs were based on the work being completed 
at one time. It was a probability that the options around phasing may increase the 
cost.  

 
Further clarity was sought in relation to the extension of the catchment area 
considered and whether transport facilities were considered to determine the 
demand of the area. 

 
Mr Rushton confirmed that the catchment area was a 20 minute travel time and that 
current and future population projections were included within this assessment. It 
was highlighted that none of the projections indicated that the centre would not take 
less than it did before, warning however that it may take some time to get back to 
how it was prior to closure. 

 
A query was raised regarding the consideration of Stamford, Grantham and Bourne. 
Bourne had experienced a leaking roof and had an old boiler. It was understood, 
however, that temporary measures had been put into place for the winter.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that Bourne Leisure Centre opened in the 
1990’s and that the installations were not as old as the Deepings Leisure Centre. A 
budget had been assigned to bring forward the refurbishment options, with that 
budget not having been fully utilised. The Council was in the process of 
commissioning full building condition surveys on Stamford, Grantham and Bourne 
Leisure Centres to identify their condition and to develop asset management plans.  

 
The Chairman made the following points: 

 

•   The figures in the report were not in the current Medium Term Financial Plans, 
together with the revenue that would need to be gained and any savings generated. 

•   The impact of inflation that had been modelled were still unclear. 

23



•   It would be interesting to understand the Leader of the Council’s preferred approach 
in respect of the options presented. 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer highlighted the financial 
implications in the report were slightly disproportionate due to the new build being a 
50-year lifespan and the refurbishing of the existing asset being 25-year lifespan. 
This put pressure on the borrowing profile due to it being over a shortened period. 
The surplus income projections could be used to offset the borrowing cost options.  

 
The Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste 
Service noted that to facilitate this any budget decisions would be made by Full 
Council.  

 
Mr Weston confirmed that the contingency allowance at this stage was 10%. The 
calculations for inflation had followed a national service building cost calculated by 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and was received on a monthly basis. 
The inflation figures were based on the mid-point of the different options.  

 
The Leader of the Council highlighted the ambition for Option C, due to delivering 
everything that a new centre would, whilst protecting services in the south of the 
District. Cabinet and Council would determine the outcome in terms of savings and 
prioritising the budgets in respect of leisure.  

 
A Member queried what consultation had taken place with the Deepings community 
about the options available for Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure stated that the proposals set out in the report were 
subject to consultation and highlighted the difficulty of community consultation with 
no parameters.  

 
A Member questioned procurement of works for this project. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure stated that, following the meeting, detailed work 
around procurement would be undertaken for presentation to Cabinet on 7 
December 2021. 

 

The Monitoring Officer clarified that this meeting would be making 
recommendations to Cabinet, with a further recommendation from Cabinet referred 
onto Full Council at its extraordinary meeting on 14 December 2021 for the final 
decision. It was highlighted that this meeting, as a Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, had no decision-making power on this matter.  

 
AGREED: 

 
To note the feasibility work undertaken to establish options for leisure 
provision in the Deepings.  
 

 

24



RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet that 
Full Council: 

 
(1) Approves Option C with a budget allocation of £10.663m for leisure facilities 

to meet the local needs in the Deepings area, subject to meaningful 
community consultation and the inclusion of a financial review. 
 

(2) Requests the relevant Cabinet Member to call upon the Department for 
Education and the Anthem Trust to resolve the lease of Deepings Leisure 
Centre in order to allow LeisureSK Ltd and South Kesteven District Council 
representatives to reopen the Deepings Leisure Centre as soon as possible. 

 
5. Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 17:09. 

 
 

25



This page is intentionally left blank

26



Action Sheet 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

To provide members with an update on actions agreed at the 8 September 2021 meeting.  

Minute 
no. 

Agenda Item Action(s) Assigned to Response/Status Deadline 

 

There were none.  

27

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
01 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators 2021/22 
Mid-Year report & Review of Corporate Plan Actions 

This mid-year update report outlines South Kesteven District Councils performance against the 
Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the first half of 2021/22. 
 
Following review of the Corporate Plan Actions and their associated KPIs, revised measures are 
proposed for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s consideration. 

 

 

Report Author 

Ben Russell, Performance Lead 

 
 01476 406394 

  Ben.Russell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A high performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 19 January 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 20 January 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 20 January 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the contents of the 2021/22 mid-year performance report. 

2. Supports amending the Corporate Plan Actions and Key Performance Indicators in 
line with the outcomes of the review.  

29

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 Background 

1.1 The South Kesteven Corporate Plan 2020-23 was approved by Council on 1 October 

2020. It was agreed by Council that actions, key performance indicators (KPIs) and targets 

would be developed by the relevant overview and scrutiny committee, which would retain 

oversight of the performance management arrangements at a strategic level. These 

actions and indicators were presented to this committee and agreed on 17 November 

2020. 

1.2 The Year-end report for 2020/21 was presented to the Committee on 22 June 2021 and 

outlined the performance against the Corporate Plan for that financial year and also 

outlined the Councils performance management method and commitment to review the 

Actions and Key Performance Indicators on an annual basis. October 2021 was the first 

anniversary of the Corporate Plan and therefore a review has been undertaken 

2 Corporate Plan Actions – Mid-Year Update 

2.1 Appendix 1 outlines the overall performance against the 6 actions, as well as specific 

performance against the 13 sub measures contained within those. Specific commentary is 

provided for each action, but the summary is as follows:  

1. 3 of the actions are rated Green. These are actions which are on or above 

target as planned.  

2. 2 actions are rated as Amber, these are those off target by less than 10% 

or where milestone achievement is delayed but with resolution in place to 

be achieved within a reasonable timeframe.  

3. 1 action is rated Red. These are those falling significantly below target or 

overdue with no specific resolution date planned. 

2.2 Action Rated as Red – The Action ‘Celebrate and enhance the rich history of the District‘ 

(Healthy and Strong Communities Action 5, Appendix 1, page 4) is rated red because 

through to the end of Q2 2021/22 the Covid19 pandemic restricted the services activities 

and ability to deliver public events. Additionally the Arts service has undergone a review 

and it is proposed that this measure is removed, combining its planned outputs under a 

single action concerning the Arts review and its reframing of service priorities and delivery.  

3 Corporate Plan Actions – Review Outcomes 

3.1 The Corporate Plan reached its first anniversary in October 2021. To ensure the actions 

and performance indicators remain fit for purpose, they have been reviewed. This review 

incorporates the lessons learned from collection in 2020/21 and the first half of 2021/22, 

along with any changes to the Council’s priorities and the circumstances of service 

delivery within the district. 

3.2 Consultation included communication with Directors, Members and Officers to improve the 

quality of the measures and report format, as well as the relevance of the measures to the 

Council’s objectives.  

3.3 Appendix 2 shows the new proposed actions and measures for 2021/22 onwards. The 

summary of changes are as follows: 

30



 

 
 

Total 
Actions 

 

7 

Actions with 
No Changes 

Revised 
Actions 

New 
Actions 

Removed 
Actions 

Completed 
Actions 

3 1 1 2 0 
 

(a) Revised actions include those with changes to the measures, targets, committee to 

which they are reported or wording of the action, on the whole these changes are 

relatively minor and represent changes proposed as a result of progress of actions 

and learning over the past 12 months.  

(b) New actions are actions created to merge older actions, clearly separate previously 

linked measures or entirely new actions where an important council priority was not 

included in the previous incarnation of the action list.  

(c) Completed actions are those where no further action is required or the activity is 

embedding into the business as usual activities of our services.  

(d) Removed Actions are those where the measures are placed under a different 

action, feedback from members is that the action is not relevant to performance 

reporting or where the Council no longer plans to deliver the action due to change of 

priority or circumstance. 

3.4 New Actions Proposed 

The following new action has been added to reflect the current priorities of the Council. 

a) ‘Review the Arts services within the district with an ambition to provide improved, 

efficient and accessible arts within South Kesteven’, (Healthy And Strong 

Communities Action 13, Appendix 2, page 6).  

This action is proposed to focus on the outcomes of the arts review and ensure the targets 

and success criteria for the Arts service are framed around the revised service plans that 

follow the review. 

3.5 Actions proposed to be removed. 

a) ‘Celebrate and enhance the rich history of the District‘ (Healthy and Strong 

Communities Action 5, Appendix 2, page 2) 

b) ‘Adopt a new Cultural Strategy for the District, including the local Arts, Events and 

Festivals programme’ (Healthy And Strong Communities Action 6, Appendix 2, page 

3).  

These actions are proposed to be removed and merged together to form the new Arts 

Review action.  

3.6 Members are asked in this report to consider the proposed changes and to approve them 

for future monitoring. Feedback and suggestions are also welcomed to ensure the 

proposed Key Performance Indicators meet the needs of the Committee in their 

monitoring role. 

3.7 Once approved the Scrutiny Committee will receive regular reports updating progress 

against the actions within the scope of the Committee, the next of which will be the end of 

year report for 2021/22. 

4 Financial Implications  

31



 

 
 

4.1 The financial considerations where appropriate are referenced throughout this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

5 Legal and Governance Implications  

5.1 Regular reporting on agreed actions and measures is to be welcomed from a governance 

point of view, as it provides a transparent mechanism for reporting on performance. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

6 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

6.1 There are no issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting from this 

report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be addressed as required. 

7 Risk and Mitigation 

7.1 No significant risks have been identified. 

8 Community Safety Implications  

8.1 No significant implications have been identified. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

9.1 The contents of this report do not have a direct impact on the council’s carbon emissions 

or the carbon emissions of the wider district. More detailed information on carbon impact 

of individual projects or activities are outlined within the relevant project documentation or 

service plans. 

10 Appendices 

10.1 Appendix 1 - Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators Mid-Year Update 

10.2 Appendix 2 – Corporate Plan Actions and Indicators Revised Proposals 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

N/A 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

22 June 2021 

Final Decision date   N/A 

 

32



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�ϭ 

�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ�WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�YϮ�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ 

�ƵůƚƵƌĞ�Θ�sŝƐŝƚŽƌ��ĐŽŶŽŵǇ�KǀĞƌǀŝĞǁ�Θ�^ĐƌƵƟŶǇ��ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ 

WƌŝŽƌŝƚǇ�EŽ͗ �ĐƟŽŶ͗ ^ƚĂƚƵƐ͗ 

'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\�� 
:RUN�ZLWK�SDUWQHUV�DQG�DWWUDFWLRQV��WR�SURPRWH�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DQG�LQFUHDVH�
YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�D�7RXULVP�6WUDWHJLF�

)UDPHZRUN� 

 

'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\��� 
:RUN�FORVHO\�ZLWK�PDUNHWV�DFURVV�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�DQG�VHHN�WR�PDLQWDLQ�

WKHLU�YLDELOLW\�� 

 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� &HOHEUDWH�DQG�HQKDQFH�WKH�ULFK�KLVWRU\�RI�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 
 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 
$GRSW�D�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�ORFDO�$UWV��

(YHQWV�DQG�)HVWLYDOV�SURJUDPPH�� 

 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 'HYHORS�DQG�DGRSW�D�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�� 
 

,PSURYH�DQG�LQYHVW�LQ�WKH�ORFDO�DUWV�	�FXOWXUDO�YHQXHV�DFURVV�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 
 

+HDOWK\�DQG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

33

A
ppendix 1



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�Ϯ 

.3,�,'�� 'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\���� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

     

$FWLRQ�� :RUN�ZLWK�SDUWQHUV�DQG�DWWUDFWLRQV��WR�SURPRWH�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DQG�LQFUHDVH�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�
RI�D�7RXULVP�6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�DQG�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�
$QG�&XOWXUH 0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\�DQG�

$QQXDO 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

,QFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�DPRXQW�RI�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�GLVWULFW��'HYHORSPHQW�DQG�DGRSWLRQ�RI�D�VWUDWHJLF�GRFXPHQW�WKDW��
SRVLWLRQV�6.'&�DW�WKH�FHQWUH�RI�LWV�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\��7KH�GRFXPHQW�ZLOO�DQG�GUDZ-RQ��DQG�VXSSRUW��WKH�H[SHUWLVH�

RI�WKH�H[LVWLQJ�9(�VHFWRU��DQG�RWKHU�DJHQFLHV�LQYROYHG�LQ�LWV�SURPRWLRQ� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� ������� 4��������� 4��������� 

1XPEHU�RI�QHZO\�HQJDJHG�
YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DWWUDFWLRQV�

HQJDJHG 
�� <HDU�(QG � 

      
,QFUHDVH�LQ�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�

VSHQG 
������������ <HDU�(QG ������������ 

   

$GRSWLRQ�RI�7RXULVP��������
6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN��*URVV�

9DOXH�$GGHG� 

7R�KDYH��
DGRSWHG�WKH�
7RXULVP����
6WUDWHJLF�
)UDPHZRUN 

<HDU�(QG 2Q�WUDFN� 

   
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

:H�FRQWLQXH�WR�SURYLGH�ÞQDQFLDO�VXSSRUW�WR�WKH�VHFWRU�WKURXJK�RXU�&RYLG�GLVFUHWLRQDU\�IXQG��7KLV�HQVXUHV�ERWK�KHDOWK\�EXVLQHVV�HQJDJHPHQW�
DQG�PRUH�LPSRUWDQWO\�EXVLQHVV�UHWHQWLRQ�ZLWKLQ�WKH�VHFWRU��2YHU�����EXVLQHVVHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�KDYH�EHHQ�VXSSRUWHG�WKURXJK�WKLV�
IXQGLQJ��KRZHYHU�WKH\�DUH�QRW�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�HQJDJHPHQW�ÞJXUH�UHSRUWHG�DERYH� 

)ROORZLQJ�UHWLUHPHQW�RI�WKH�IRUPHU�DW�WKH�HQG�RI�6HSWHPEHU��WKH�QHZ�7RXULVP�DQG�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�2IÞFHU�VWDUWV�LQ�SRVW�PLG-1RYHPEHU�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\� � 

34



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�ϯ 

.3,�,'�� 'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\��� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\���� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

      

$FWLRQ�� :RUN�FORVHO\�ZLWK�PDUNHWV�DFURVV�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�DQG�VHHN�WR�PDLQWDLQ�WKHLU�YLDELOLW\�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�DQG�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�������
&RPPHUFLDO�DQG�2SHUDWLRQV� 0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 9LEUDQW�DQG�ILQDQFLDOO\�YLDEOH�PDUNHWV�WKDW�FRQWULEXWH�WR�WKH�IRRWIDOO�DQG�HFRQRPLF�DFWLYLW\�RI�WKH�WRZQ�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� ������� 4��������� 4��������� 

0DUNHWV�EHFRPLQJ�FRVW���
QHXWUDO�WR�6.'&� 

 �����UHGXF�
WLRQ�RI�PDUNHWV�
GHILFLW�IURP�
EDVHOLQH 

����������� 

<HDU�(QG <7' 6SHQG� �
���������� 

      
&RPPHQWDU\���$�UHGXFWLRQ�LQ�DFWXDO�FRVWV�WR�SODQQHG�FRVWV�RI������������ZDV�DFKLHYHG�E\�WKH�HQG�RI�4���&RQWLQXHG�SRVLWLYH�SURJUHVV�LV�����
DQWLFLSDWHG�WKURXJK�4��DQG�WKH�UXQ�XS�WR�&KULVWPDV��+RZHYHU��H[SHFWDWLRQ�VKRXOG�EH�WHPSHUHG�DV�D�IDOO�LQ�LQFRPH�LV�IUHTXHQWO\�H[SHULHQFHG�
GXULQJ�WKH�4��ZLQWHU�SHULRG��� 

 

 

 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\�  

35



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�ϰ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\���� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

      

$FWLRQ�� &HOHEUDWH�DQG�HQKDQFH�WKH�ULFK�KLVWRU\�RI�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�DQG�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

,QFUHDVHG�OHYHO�RI�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�KLVWRULFDO�ILJXUHV�DQG�HYHQWV�WKDW�KDYH�VKDSHG�WKH�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�RI���
WRGD\�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� ������� 4��������� 4��������� 

1XPEHU�RI�UHVLGHQWV����������
HQJDJHG�WKURXJK����������������

6.-SURPRWHG�FXOWXUDO���������
DFWLYLWLHV� 

 0LQLPXP�RI���
HYHQWV�SHU�\HDU��
1XPEHU�RI�DW�
WHQGHHV�DW�HDFK�
HYHQW�ZLOO�EH�GH�
SHQGHQW�RQ�WKH�

VFDOH�RI�WKH�DFWLYLW\�
GHOLYHUHG�-�EXW�

VKRXOG�DLP�WR�HQ�
JDJH�ZLWK�D�PLQL�
PXP�RI��������UHV�
LGHQWV�YLVLWRUV�SHU�

\HDU� 

<HDU�(QG  � 

      
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

7KLV�PHDVXUH�LV�SURSRVHG�IRU�UHPRYDO�LQ�WKH�.3,�UHYLHZ��,QVWHDG�WKH�DPELWLRQ�LV�WR�OLQN���H[LVWLQJ�DUWV�UHODWHG�PHDVXUHV�XQGHU�RQH�DFWLRQ�����
FRYHULQJ�WKH�$UWV�UHYLHZ�DQG�SURJUHVV�WRZDUGV�WUDQVIRUPLQJ�WKDW�VHUYLFH�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\�  

36



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�ϱ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\���� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

      

$FWLRQ�� $GRSW�D�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�ORFDO�$UWV��(YHQWV�DQG�)HVWLYDOV�SURJUDPPH�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�DQG�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�D�QHZ�FXOWXUH�VWUDWHJ\�WKDW�HQKDQFHV�TXDOLW\�RI�OLIH��KHDOWK�DQG�ZHOOEHLQJ�DQG�EULQJV�FRPPXQLWLHV���
WRJHWKHU� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� ������� 4��������� 4��������� 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�FXOWXUH�����
VWUDWHJ\� 

'HOLYHU\�DJDLQVW���
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�SODQ 

<HDU�(QG  1 
      

1XPEHU�RI�UHVLGHQWV����������
HQJDJHG�WKURXJK�WKH�QHZ�
SURJUDPPH�RI�DFWLYLWLHV� 

5HEDVH-OLQH�����
PHDVXUH�IROORZLQJ�

FRYLG�LPSDFW 
<HDU�(QG ���� 

   
&RPPHQWDU\���'LJLWDO�SURJUDPPHV�FHDVHG�FXVWRPHU�GHPDQG�GHFOLQHG��4��ILJXUHV�LQFOXGHG�GLJLWDO�UHDFK�IRU�RQOLQH�HYHQWV�SURYLGHG�ZKLOVW���
YHQXHV�ZHUH�FORVHG��7KH�DUWV�WHDP�ZRUNHG�WR�D�UH-RSHQLQJ�RI�WKH�FLQHPD�DQG�WKHDWUH�LQ�4��ZLWK�D�VRFLDOO\�GLVWDQFHG�DXGLWRULXP� 

$WWHQGHHV������ 

&LQHPD������ 

/LYH�6KRZV������ 

:RUNVKRSV����� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\� � 

37



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�ϲ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\���� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

      

$FWLRQ�� 'HYHORS�DQG�DGRSW�D�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�/HLVXUH�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�&XOWXUH� 0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\�	�
$QQXDO 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� $GRSWLQJ�DQG�DFKLHYLQJ�WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�D�6SRUWV�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�GLVWULFW� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� ������� 4��������� 4��������� 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�6SRUW�	�
3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�VWUDWHJ\��
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ�RI�DFWLRQV�

DQG�DFKLHYHPHQW�RI���������
RXWFRPHV� 

6WUDWHJ\������
,PSOHPHQWHG 

<HDU�(QG 

$SSURYHG�E\�
&XOWXUH�DQG�

9LVLWRU�������
(FRQRP\�
26&���       

5HVXOWV�RI�DFWLYH�SHRSOH����
VXUYH\��$GXOWV�� 

7%& <HDU�(QG  
   

5HVXOWV�RI�DFWLYH�OLYHV�VXUYH\�
�&KLOGUHQ�DQG�<RXQJ�3HRSOH�� 

7%& <HDU�(QG  
   

$QQXDO�&XVWRPHU��������������
6DWLVIDFWLRQ�6XUYH\ 

7%& <HDU�(QG  
   

&RPPHQWDU\��� 

&XUUHQWO\�D�ILQDO�URXQG�RI�FRQVXOWDWLRQ�LV�RQJRLQJ�EHIRUH�JRLQJ�WR�&DELQHW�LQ�'HFHPEHU�IRU�DGRSWLRQ�� 

1RWH��7KLV�UHSRUW�ZDV�SUHSDUHG�IRU�4��UHSRUWLQJ��7KH�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�VWUDWHJ\�KDV�VLQFH�EHHQ�DGRSWHG�E\�&DELQHW�LQ�'HFHPEHU�
����� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\� � 

38



�ŽƌƉŽƌĂƚĞ��WůĂŶ�<ĞǇ�WĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ�/ŶĚŝĐĂƚŽƌƐ�-�ϮϬϮϭͬϮϮ�YƵĂƌƚĞƌ�Ϯ 

WĂŐĞ�ϳ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\���� 
4��������� 4��������� 4��������� 

     

$FWLRQ�� ,PSURYH�DQG�LQYHVW�LQ�WKH�ORFDO�DUWV�	�FXOWXUDO�YHQXHV�DFURVV�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�DQG�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�
DQG�&XOWXUH� 0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

)LW�IRU�SXUSRVH�IDFLOLWLHV�DW�6WDPIRUG�$UWV�&HQWUH��*UDQWKDP�*XLOGKDOO�DQG�%RXUQH�([FKDQJH�DV�ZHOO�DV�RWKHU�
&RXQFLO-VXSSRUWHG�DUWV�DQG�FXOWXUDO�DVVHWV�DFURVV�WKH�GLVWULFW� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� ������� 4��������� 4��������� 

9DOXH�RI�FDSLWDO�ZRUNV������
FDUULHG�RXW� 

%DVHOLQH����� <HDU�(QG άϲϴϵ͕ϬϬϬ�  
     

0DLQWDLQLQJ�SURSHUWLHV�WR��
UHTXLUHG�VWDQGDUGV� 

����RI�DFWLRQ�
SODQ�FRPSOHWHG� 

<HDU�(QG ĂƉƉƌŽǆ͘�ϱϬй� 
   

&RPPHQWDU\�� 7KH�&RXQFLO¶V�VXSSRUW�IRU�WKH�$UWV��&XOWXUH�DQG�(YHQWV�6HUYLFH�LV�GHPRQVWUDWHG�E\�WKH�OHYHO�RI�VXEVLG\�SURYLGHV�DFURVV�*UDQWKDP�*XLOGKDOO��
6WDPIRUG�$UWV�&HQWUH��%RXUQH�&RUQ�([FKDQJH�DQG�IRU�RWKHU�DUWV�HYHQWV� �:LWK�WKH�FRPSOHWLRQ�RI�WKH�URRI�LQ�6WDPIRUG��UHIXUELVKPHQW�ZRUNV�LQ�%RXUQH�DQG�WKH�
%DOOURRP�GHFRUDWLRQ�ZRUNV��DSSUR[LPDWHO\�����RI�WKH�DFWLRQ�SODQ�KDV�EHHQ�FRPSOHWHG��6SHFLILF�ZRUN�VHW�LQ�WUDLQ�IRU�WKH�WKUHH�YHQXHV�LV�DV�IROORZV� 

6WDPIRUG�$UWV�&HQWUH�–��FLUFD�����N�–�WRWDO�EXGJHW��6SHQG�WR�GDWH�–�FLUFD�����N�� 
5HSDLUV�WR�URRI�FRPSOHWHG�DQG�VXUYH\V�XQGHUWDNHQ�WR�HVWDEOLVK�IXUWKHU�ZRUNV�UHTXLUHG�WR�WKH�7KHDWUH�DUHD��EXGJHW�VRXJKW�IRU���������LQ�UHODWLRQ�WR�WKH�LQ�
VWDOODWLRQ�RI�SURWHFWLRQ�RU�UHSODFHPHQW�RI�WKH�7KHDWUH�5RRI��%DOOURRP�UHGHFRUDWLRQ�KDV�QRZ�EHHQ�FRPSOHWHG��&XVWRPHU�$FFHVV�3RLQW�ZRUNV�DXWKRULVHG�DQG�
GHOLYHU\�DJUHHPHQW�DZDLWLQJ�VLJQDWXUH�IRU�ZRUNV�WR�FRPPHQFH�RQ�WKH���VW�1RYHPEHU�������7RLOHW�UHIXUELVKPHQW�ZRUNV�IRU�GHVLJQ�VWDJH�QHDULQJ�FRPSOHWLRQ�
DQG�SURFXUHPHQW�EHLQJ�GLVFXVVHG��ZLWK�ZRUNV�VFKHGXOHG�IRU�GHOLYHU\�LQ�HDUO\�������:LOO�LQFOXGH�LPSURYHPHQWV�WR�GUDLQDJH��5HSODFHPHQW�RI�)LUH�$ODUP�V\V�
WHP�LV�VFKHGXOHG�IRU�GHOLYHU\�ZLWK�&XVWRPHU�VHUYLFH�ZRUNV�VFKHGXOHG�WR�FRPPHQFH���VW�1RYHPEHU������� 

*UDQWKDP�*XLOGKDOO�–��FLUFD�����N�–�WRWDO�EXGJHW��6SHQG�WR�GDWH�–�FLUFD��������� 
7RLOHW�UHIXUELVKPHQW�VFKHGXOHG�IRU�GHOLYHU\�LQ�-DQXDU\�������)LQDOLVLQJ�GHVLJQ�DQG�FRVWLQJV��'HOLYHU\�DJUHHPHQW�DZDLWLQJ�VLJQDWXUH�IRU�ZRUNV�WR�FRPPHQFH�
RQ�VLWH�LQ�-DQXDU\��2SWLRQV�IRU�LQVWDOODWLRQ�RI�$�&�V\VWHP�LQ�EDOOURRP�KDYH�EHHQ�GLVFXVVHG�LQ�FRQVXOWDWLRQ�ZLWK�+HULWDJH�3ODQQLQJ�2IILFHU�DQG�FRQWUDFWRU��
3RUWDEOH�$&�XQLWV�DUH�WR�EH�SURFXUHG�DQG�SXUFKDVHG�LQ�)HEUXDU\������UHDG\�WR�WKH�QHZ�VHDVRQV��:RUNV�RQ�IDFLOLWDWRU\�VWRUDJH�URRP�IRU�WKH�SRUWDEOH�XQLWV�
KDYH�QRZ�EHHQ�FRPSOHWHG� 

%RXUQH�&RUQ�([FKDQJH�–��7RWDO�VSHQG�FLUFD����N�–�3URMHFW�FRPSOHWH� 
5HIXUELVKPHQW�FRPSOHWHG�WR�)URQW-RI�+RXVH�DUHDV�–�EDU��WRLOHWV�DQG�VWDJH�–�LQFOXGLQJ�WHFKQLFDO�HTXLSPHQW�XSJUDGHV�DQG�VWDJH�GUDSHV��,PSURYHPHQW�ZRUNV�
FRPSOHWHG�WR�IURQW�HOHYDWLRQ�DQG�H[WHUQDO�OLJKWLQJ�LQVWDOOHG�WR�IDoDGH��5HJLVWUDUV¶�2IILFHV�UH-VLWHG�WR�DUHD�DGMDFHQW�WR�WKH�/LEUDU\��RIIHULQJ�LQGHSHQGHQW�DFFHVV�
IURP�WKH�VLGH�RI�WKH�EXLOGLQJ��%DFNVWDJH�GUHVVLQJ�URRP�DUHDV�FUHDWHG�IRU�YLVLWLQJ�DUWLVWV�� 

6WDWXV�+LVWRU\� � 

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ϭ 

3DJH 3ULRULW\� 'LUHFWRU 
&DELQHW����
0HPEHU 

$FWLRQ� 6WDWXV� 

� 
+HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ� 

&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 

&XOWXUH�	�����
9LVLWRU������

(FRQRP\ 
&HOHEUDWH�DQG�HQKDQFH�WKH�ULFK�KLVWRU\�RI�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 5HPRYHG 

� 
+HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ� 

&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 

&XOWXUH�	�����
9LVLWRU������

(FRQRP\ 

$GRSW�D�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�
ORFDO�$UWV��(YHQWV�DQG�)HVWLYDOV�SURJUDPPH 

5HPRYHG 

� 
+HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ� 

&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 

/HLVXUH 'HYHORS�DQG�DGRSW�D�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�� 5HYLVHG 

� 
+HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ� 

&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 

&XOWXUH�	�����
9LVLWRU������

(FRQRP\ 

,PSURYH�DQG�LQYHVW�LQ�WKH�ORFDO�DUWV�	�FXOWXUDO�YHQXHV�DFURVV�
WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

1R�&KDQJH 

� 
+HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ� 

&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH� 

&XOWXUH�	�����
9LVLWRU������

(FRQRP\ 

5HYLHZ�WKH�$UWV�VHUYLFHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�ZLWK�DQ�DPELWLRQ�WR�
SURYLGH�LPSURYHG��HIILFLHQW�DQG�DFFHVVLEOH�DUWV�ZLWKLQ�6RXWK�

.HVWHYHQ 
1HZ 

� 
'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�

2XU�(FRQRP\�� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
*URZWK�DQG�
&XOWXUH�  

(FRQRPLF����
'HYHORSPHQW�
DQG�*URZWK 

:RUN�ZLWK�SDUWQHUV�DQG�DWWUDFWLRQV��WR�SURPRWH�YLVLWRU�������
HFRQRP\�DQG�LQFUHDVH�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�

WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�D�7RXULVP�6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN� 
1R�&KDQJH 

� 
'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�
2XU�(FRQRP\��� 

'LUHFWRU�RI�
&RPPHUFLDO�

DQG�2SHUDWLRQV� 

&XOWXUH�	�����
9LVLWRU������

(FRQRP\ 

:RUN�FORVHO\�ZLWK�PDUNHWV�DFURVV�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�DQG�VHHN�WR�
PDLQWDLQ�WKHLU�YLDELOLW\�� 

1R�&KDQJH 

41

A
ppendix 2



Ϯ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� &HOHEUDWH�DQG�HQKDQFH�WKH�ULFK�KLVWRU\�RI�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�

&XOWXUH� 
0HDVXUHG��  

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

,QFUHDVHG�OHYHO�RI�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�KLVWRULFDO�ILJXUHV�DQG�HYHQWV�WKDW�KDYH�VKDSHG�WKH�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�RI���
WRGD\�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

1XPEHU�RI�UHVLGHQWV�HQ�
JDJHG�WKURXJK�6.-SURPRWHG�
FXOWXUDO�DFWLYLWLHV� 

 0LQLPXP�RI���
HYHQWV�SHU�\HDU��
1XPEHU�RI�DW�
WHQGHHV�DW�HDFK�
HYHQW�ZLOO�EH�GH�
SHQGHQW�RQ�WKH�
VFDOH�RI�WKH�DFWLYLW\�
GHOLYHUHG�-�EXW�
VKRXOG�DLP�WR�HQ�
JDJH�ZLWK�D�PLQL�
PXP�RI��������UHV�
LGHQWV�YLVLWRUV�SHU�
\HDU� 

   

        
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

7R�EH�UHPRYHG�DQG�PHUJHG�XQGHU�D�QHZ�DFWLRQ�FRQVLGHULQJ�WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�WKH�DUWV�UHYLHZ�� 

 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

42



ϯ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� $GRSW�D�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�ORFDO�$UWV��(YHQWV�DQG�)HVWLYDOV�SURJUDPPH�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG��

&XOWXUH� 
0HDVXUHG��  

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�D�QHZ�FXOWXUH�VWUDWHJ\�WKDW�HQKDQFHV�TXDOLW\�RI�OLIH��KHDOWK�DQG�ZHOOEHLQJ�DQG�EULQJV�FRPPXQLWLHV���
WRJHWKHU� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�FXOWXUH���
VWUDWHJ\� 

'HOLYHU\�DJDLQVW�
PLOHVWRQHV�DQG�.3,V�
LGHQWLILHG�LQ�LPSOH�
PHQWDWLRQ�SODQ 

   

        
1XPEHU�RI�UHVLGHQWV���������
HQJDJHG�WKURXJK�WKH�QHZ�
SURJUDPPH�RI�DFWLYLWLHV� 

%DVHOLQH�WR�LQFOXGH�
��[�FXOWXUDO�DFWLYLW\�
YLVLW�GHOLYHUHG�LQ�
HDFK�ZDUG��SHU�\HDU� 

$WWHQGHH�EDVHOLQH�WR�
EH�HVWDEOLVKHG�LQ�
����-���GXH�WR�
&RYLG-���UHVWULFWLRQV�
-�ZLWK�DOORZDQFH�IRU�
OLPLWHG�HQJDJHPHQW�
LQ�4���� 

  

    
&RPPHQWDU\���� 

7R�EH�UHPRYHG�DQG�PHUJHG�XQGHU�D�QHZ�DFWLRQ�FRQVLGHULQJ�WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�WKH�DUWV�UHYLHZ�� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

43



ϰ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV�� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� 'HYHORS�DQG�DGRSW�D�6SRUW�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�/HLVXUH�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�DQG�&XOWXUH� 0HDVXUHG�� ��0RQWKO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� $GRSWLQJ�DQG�DFKLHYLQJ�WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�D�6SRUWV�DQG�3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�6WUDWHJ\�IRU�WKH�GLVWULFW� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

$GRSWLRQ�RI�WKH�6SRUW�	�
3K\VLFDO�$FWLYLW\�VWUDWHJ\ ������� <HDU�(QG 

  

        
5HVXOWV�RI�DFWLYH�SHRSOH���
VXUYH\��$GXOWV�� 

0RQLWRU�ZLWK�
WDUJHW�WR�EH�
FRQILUPHG�LQ�
VWUDWHJ\� 

$QQXDO 
 

    
5HVXOWV�RI�DFWLYH�OLYHV�VXUYH\�
�&KLOGUHQ�DQG�<RXQJ�3HRSOH�� $QQXDO 

 

    
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

)RFXV�WR�EH�SODFHG�RQ�SURYLGLQJ�WKH�VWUDWHJ\�E\�HQG�RI�WKLV�\HDU—FRQWLQXH�PRQLWRULQJ�DFWLYH�OLYHV�VXUYH\V�ZLWK�WDUJHWV�WR�EH�HVWDEOLVKHG�LQ�WKH�
VWUDWHJ\�� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

44



ϱ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� ,PSURYH�DQG�LQYHVW�LQ�WKH�ORFDO�DUWV�	�FXOWXUDO�YHQXHV�DFURVV�WKH�'LVWULFW�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�

DQG�&XOWXUH� 
0HDVXUHG�� ��0RQWKO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

)LW�IRU�SXUSRVH�IDFLOLWLHV�DW�6WDPIRUG�$UWV�&HQWUH��*UDQWKDP�*XLOGKDOO�DQG�%RXUQH�([FKDQJH�DV�ZHOO�DV�RWKHU�
&RXQFLO-VXSSRUWHG�DUWV�DQG�FXOWXUDO�DVVHWV�DFURVV�WKH�GLVWULFW� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

9DOXH�RI�FDSLWDO�ZRUNV������
FDUULHG�RXW� 

%DVHOLQH����� <HDU�(QG 
  

        
0DLQWDLQLQJ�SURSHUWLHV�WR���
UHTXLUHG�VWDQGDUGV� 

����RI�DFWLRQ�
SODQ����������

FRPSOHWHG� 
<HDU�(QG 

 

    
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

1R�FKDQJH�WR�EH�PDGH�WR�WKLV�DFWLRQ�DW�WKH�FXUUHQW�WLPH��+RZHYHU�LW�LV�QRWHG�WKDW�WKH�SULRULWLHV�KHUH�PD\�FKDQJH�LQ�OLJKW�RI�WKH�RWKHU�DUWV�UHYLHZ�
DFWLRQV�� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

45



ϲ 

.3,�,'�� +HDOWK\�$QG�6WURQJ�&RPPXQLWLHV��� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� 
5HYLHZ�WKH�$UWV�VHUYLFHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�ZLWK�DQ�DPELWLRQ�WR�SURYLGH�LPSURYHG��HIILFLHQW�DQG�DFFHVVLEOH�DUWV�ZLWKLQ�������������

6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�*URZWK�

DQG�&XOWXUH� 
0HDVXUHG�� ��0RQWKO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

$�VXVWDLQDEO\�SURYLVLRQHG�DUWV�VHUYLFH�IRU�UHVLGHQWV�DQG�YLVLWRUV�WR�WKH�GLVWULFW�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

6WDII�UHYLHZ�DQG�UHVWUXFWXUH ������� <HDU�(QG      
5HYLHZ��WKH�SURJUDPPLQJ�
DQG�RSHQLQJ�KRXUV�RI�WKH�
WKUHH�FHQWUHV�LQ�*UDQWKDP��
%RXUQH�DQG�6WDPIRUG 

������� <HDU�(QG 

 

    
,GHQWLI\�SRWHQWLDO�IXWXUH�����
GHOLYHU\�PRGHOV 

������� <HDU�(QG 
 

    
'HYHORS�QHZ�&XOWXUDO�����
6WUDWHJ\�ZLWK�FOHDU�DFWLRQ�
SODQ 

������� <HDU�(QG 
 

    
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

7KLV�PHDVXUH�PHUJHV�WKH�DFWLRQV�+HDOWK\�FRPPXQLWLHV�������DQG��E�LQWR�RQH�DFWLRQ�FRYHULQJ�WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�WKH�DUWV�UHYLHZ�DQG�RXU�LQWHQWLRQ�
WR�UHGHVLJQ�WKH�VHUYLFH�LQ�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�UHOHYDQW�RXWFRPHV�� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

46



ϳ 

.3,�,'�� 'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\�� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� :RUN�ZLWK�SDUWQHUV�DQG�DWWUDFWLRQV��WR�SURPRWH�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DQG�LQFUHDVH�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�'LVWULFW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�
RI�D�7RXULVP�6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�(FRQRPLF�'HYHORSPHQW�DQG�*URZWK�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�

*URZWK�DQG�&XOWXUH�  
0HDVXUHG�� 4XDUWHUO\ 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 

,QFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�DPRXQW�RI�YLVLWRU�VSHQG�LQ�WKH�GLVWULFW��'HYHORSPHQW�DQG�DGRSWLRQ�RI�D�VWUDWHJLF�GRFXPHQW�WKDW��
SRVLWLRQV�6.'&�DW�WKH�FHQWUH�RI�LWV�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\��7KH�GRFXPHQW�ZLOO�DQG�GUDZ-RQ��DQG�VXSSRUW��WKH�H[SHUWLVH�

RI�WKH�H[LVWLQJ�9(�VHFWRU��DQG�RWKHU�DJHQFLHV�LQYROYHG�LQ�LWV�SURPRWLRQ� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

1XPEHU�RI�QHZO\�HQJDJHG�
YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�DWWUDFWLRQV�
HQJDJHG 

�� <HDU�(QG 
  

        
,QFUHDVH�LQ�YLVLWRU�HFRQRP\�
VSHQG 

������������ $QQXDO 
 

    
$GRSWLRQ�RI�7RXULVP�������
6WUDWHJLF�)UDPHZRUN��*URVV�
9DOXH�$GGHG� 

7R�KDYH��
DGRSWHG�WKH�
7RXULVP����
6WUDWHJLF�
)UDPHZRUN 

<HDU�(QG 

 

    
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

1R�FKDQJHV�UHTXLUHG�DW�FXUUHQW�� 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

47



ϴ 

.3,�,'�� 'HOLYHU\�RI�*URZWK�RI�2XU�(FRQRP\��� 

6WDWXV�� 
3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU &XUUHQW 

        

$FWLRQ�� :RUN�FORVHO\�ZLWK�PDUNHWV�DFURVV�6RXWK�.HVWHYHQ�DQG�VHHN�WR�PDLQWDLQ�WKHLU�YLDELOLW\�� 

5HVSRQVLEOH�3RVW�� 
7KH�&DELQHW�0HPEHU�IRU�&XOWXUH�	�9LVLWRU�(FRQRP\�DQG�'LUHFWRU�RI�����������

&RPPHUFLDO�DQG�2SHUDWLRQV� 
0HDVXUHG�� $QQXDO 

:KDW�GRHV�6XFFHVV�/RRN�
/LNH�� 9LEUDQW�DQG�ILQDQFLDOO\�YLDEOH�PDUNHWV�WKDW�FRQWULEXWH�WR�WKH�IRRWIDOO�DQG�HFRQRPLF�DFWLYLW\�RI�WKH�WRZQ�� 

0HDVXUH� 7DUJHW� 7DUJHW�3HULRG� $FKLHYHG� 
6WDWXV�+LVWRU\ 

3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 3UHY�4�<HDU 

0DUNHWV�EHFRPLQJ�FRVW���
QHXWUDO�WR�6.'&� 

 �����UHGXF�
WLRQ�RI�PDUNHWV�
GHILFLW�IURP�
EDVHOLQH 

<HDU�(QG 

  

        
&RPPHQWDU\��� 

1R�FKDQJHV�DW�FXUUHQW 

 

&XUUHQW�����
6WDWXV� 

48



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

1st February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew 

  Cabinet Member for Culture and 
Visitor Economy 

         
  

 

Merits of a Council-run market in the Deepings. 

This report provides an overview in relation to the issues and opportunities specific to a council-
run market in the Deepings. 

 

Report Author 

Paul Stokes, Head of Corporate Operations 

 
 01476 406 410 

  p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Carol Drury – Senior Community Development Officer 13 January 2022 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial and 
Operations 

17 January 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet 
Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 

17 January 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the context and considerations in terms of the provision of a council-run 
market in the Deepings, and comment on any potential next steps. 

 

49

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee held a markets 

workshop on 21st October 2021. Discussions took place regarding the overall performance 

of markets run by South Kesteven District Council along with future ambitions.  

1.2 The council currently manages markets at Bourne, on Thursdays and Saturdays, Stamford, 

on Fridays and Saturdays and Grantham on Saturdays. The markets supervisor oversees 

the main markets on Thursday, Friday and Saturday (Grantham), A chargehand oversees 

Stamford on Saturday, whilst we have an arrangement with the principal trader at Bourne 

on Saturday to oversee that. The Saturday market at Stamford has grown and now hosts 

on a regular basis 17 traders, whereas Bourne on Saturday hosts up to 3 although does 

have the potential to grow. 

1.3 Members attending the workshop requested that a report be provided to the Committee to 

consider the options in the Deepings, where currently there is a privately run market held 

every Wednesday in the car park at the Deepings Centre off Godsey Lane, Market Deeping. 

1.4 The privately run market regularly hosts between 6 and 8 stalls and is managed by the 

proprietor of the fruit and vegetable stall (DSCleaver), which has been the case for several 

years. There is a consistent attendance by key traders and the lynchpin to the market is the 

fruit and vegetable stall. This stall flourished throughout the Covid-19 pandemic by adapting 

to needs by, in addition to regular trading, also taking orders and implementing a delivery 

service. The market has received good support from the land agents and the community 

and, although relatively small, has become a key focus to the community on Wednesday 

mornings. 

1.5 This market is self-contained, takes place off the public highway, is accessible and serves 

the area well.  Currently there is no cost to the Council for the provision of this market. 

1.6 In responding to the request from Members however the following considerations should be 

explored: 

a) Leave the market as it is but look to increase engagement with the present 

manager, including more marketing 

b) Review the costs/implications of an additional market being Council - run on a 

weekly basis 

c) Review the costs/implications of supplementing the private market with a Council-

run one on a monthly basis 

d) Review the opportunities to hold 3 or 4 specialist markets in the summer. 

1.7 The options are considered in more detail below in section 3 – Available Options 

Considered.   

1.8 In reviewing the options consideration needs to be given to the impact on the traders 

standing at the Wednesday market, who are making it work and who might not wish to trade 

at Deeping on Saturdays. Whilst the previous trial started well support dropped once rent 

became payable. It is noted that inclement weather also impacted on the previous trial, 

which ran through from April to November 2019, starting and peaking with 14 traders, 

eventually reducing to 6 traders progressively throughout the period. The costs of the trial 

to the Council were £12669 after taking into account rental income. 

50



 

 
 

1.9 Impact on the Saturday markets at Bourne, Stamford and Grantham of a further market 

within a short travel time is also a factor that could reduce traders across the area, especially 

as a key element of the Council’s Corporate Plan is to year on year look to reduce the costs 

of markets towards break even. 

1.10 For South Kesteven District Council to hold a market in the Deepings – whether that is a 

weekly provision as discussed in Option 2 or periodic markets as suggested in options 3 

and 4 – a road closure would be necessary.  Attention therefore needs to be given to the 

impact on the community should an option to hold any additional market to that which is 

already provided be considered.  The potential impact needs to be considered on local 

businesses during times of closure or restricted access and also the direct impact on 

persons with disabilities, carers and parents with pushchairs etc if the market takes street, 

pavement and car parking space. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 An outcome of the Culture and Visitor Economy workshop on 21st October 2021 was to 

detail potential options and alternatives for the Committee to review. 

2.2 Discussions with both community users and traders at the Wednesday market generally 

fed back positively in relation to the existing provision.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Option1: DSCleaver are happy with the current arrangement and to continue as they are 

on Wednesdays. It is part of their overall business. We have forwarded several potential 

traders to them to see if the ample space within the market domain can be further filled. A 

particular problem to some traders is that they rent a pitch and need to erect/provide their 

own stall. We could provide further marketing support in terms of social media and via the 

Council’s website. 

3.2 Option 2: If there was a will to provide a council-run market, given that the private market 

is held on Wednesdays then the likelihood is that this would be on Saturdays within the area 

of the Lincolnshire County Council car park at Market Deeping, where we have already 

obtained rights to a road closure. This road closure was obtained at the time of the previous 

trial and continues to be available. The option assumes 45 markets a year. 

There are significant costs to setting up a weekly market in that we currently do not have 

capacity to supervise, resource to erect and dismantle stalls, or spare stalls and covers, due 

to the success at Stamford on Saturdays. We would also need to hire storage units to hold 

the equipment during the week as transporting them from Stamford weekly would be 

impractical. 

The costs are approximately per annum: 

Supervisor (part time)-£8000 

Stall erectors (2)-£5000 

Storage Unit-£5500 

Transport for moving stalls and covers -£2500 

Transport/Waste disposal-£1500 

Sundry expenses, such as PPE, repairs, fuel etc-£1500. 

Business rates -£2000 

51



 

 
 

This would equal a total annual cost of £26,000. In addition to this there would be a capital 

investment for 12 full stalls and covers which equates to a further £25,000. 

If there were 12 traders paying £25 each week this brings in £300 per week, based on 45 

weeks returning £13,500, which is just over half of the annual cost and no return on the 

capital investment.  It may also be unlikely that a new, unestablished market would be able 

to secure and sustain 12 traders from the market launch through the rest of the year on a 

weekly basis.  

3.3 Option 3: This assumes 12 markets held on Saturdays in the same area as Option 2. 

The costs are approximately per annum: 

Supervisor (part time)-£2500 

Stall erectors-£1500 

Storage Unit-£5500 

Transport for moving stalls and covers-£750 

Transport/waste disposal-£400 

Sundry expenses, such as PPE, fuel etc-£400 

Business rates -£500 

This would equal a total annual cost of £11550. In addition to this there would be a capital 

investment for 12 full stalls and covers which equates to a further £25,000. 

If there were 12 traders paying £35 per event this brings in £420 per event, based on 12 

events returning £5040, which is less than half of the annual cost and no return on the capital 

investment.  It may also be unlikely that a new, unestablished market would be able to 

secure and sustain 12 traders from the market launch through the rest of the year.  

3.4 Option 4: This would be to hold 3 or 4 specialist markets within the same area as Options 

2 and 3. The specialist markets would potentially include seasonal food, crafts and start up 

traders. As these would be more like the ‘stalls on tour’ where we have hired them out to 

parties holding events but requiring equipment, we could factor in utilising stalls from all of 

our other markets to accumulate sufficient, along with the transport. We would potentially 

be able to utilise our own staff, but this would require that undertaking from the Council. 

Based upon our events at other locations the cost of transporting, erecting/dismantling the 

stalls per event would be approximately £900.  

  If there were 12 traders paying £40 per event this brings in £480 per event. For this style of 

market there is the possibility to sell pitch space only and this could potentially narrow the 

gap of cost/income further. 

3.5 Summary of advantages and disadvantages of each option. 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

1 Already established on Wednesday 
mornings.  

No cost to the Council. 

Run privately and relies on individuals and 
has little scope for expansion.    

2 Potential to use the councils wider list 
of trader contacts. 

Increase stall holders via regular stall 
provision. 

Incurs a significant initial cost to the council, 
plus a capital setup.  

Potential impact on other Council markets. 

52



 

 
 

 Impacts on the business of current 
Deeping’s traders. 

3 Potential to use the councils wider list 
of trader contacts. 

Increase stall holders via regular stall 
provision. 

Incurs a significant initial cost to the council, 
plus a capital setup.  

Potential impact on other Council markets. 

Impacts on the business of current 
Deeping’s traders. 

4 Provide a wider variety of stall 
holders, together with an event for the 
community. 

Less impact on current market 
traders as an occasional seasonal 
market. 

As these are one off events, the weather 
impact could be more significant and detract 
traders from attending in the future. 

 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is option 1 above however, this report is presented for discussion and 

recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The recommendation is made to engender debate amongst Members of the Culture and 

Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee to enable them to make an informed 

recommendation to the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Any recommendation from the Committee will be put to Cabinet for consideration. Once any 

decision is made, officers will work towards the implementation should any action need to 

be taken. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The Council has previously operated a market in the Deepings and this was built into the 

base budgets for 2019/20.  The business case put forward at that time projected an 

income of £15k but the actual income received was £5k due to lower than projected trader 

numbers.  The total cost to the Council was £9.6k for 2019/20 and a further cost of £3k in 

2020/21 prior to the Council operated market ceasing.  There is no budget being allocated 

in the 2022/23 proposals that will enable a Council operated market to be re-introduced in 

the Deepings and given the level of the variances between the original business case and 

the actual usage experienced in 2019/20, a complete review should be undertaken to 

ensure the cost exposure can be determined and mitigated should the service be re-

introduced.  Should the Committee recommend the re-introduction of a Council operated 

market then a business case and financial projections should be presented for Cabinet’s 

consideration.  However as the budgets will be approved by Council on 3 March 2022, any 

costs would need to be met from reserves for the first year (2022/23) and thereafter built 

into base budgets. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

53



 

 
 

8.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 There are potential negative impacts in relation to some of the protected characteristics – 

foremost amongst those impacted would be people with disabilities should a 

recommendation be made to hold a street market. Equality analysis will be carried out once 

the Committee determines its preferred option. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No risks of any significance have been identified 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Potential implications in relation to managing road closures should an option to hold a street 

market be taken forward. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 There are potential impacts should an option to hold additional market/s as outlined in this 

report with traders and market workers travelling to erect, remove and operate from the site. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None 

15 Appendices 

15.1 None 

 

 

54



 

 

 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

1 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Progress update on the Welcome Back Fund and its 
related projects 

To review proposed activities alongside partners and the progress made to date regarding the 
Welcome Back Fund, which is focused on attracting residents to South Kesteven towns and helping 
to grow the local economy following the impacts of the coronavirus pandemic.  

 

 

Report Author 

Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth & Culture 

 
01476 406080 

 nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance & s151 
Officer 

20 January 2022 

Approved by: Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 20 January 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 20 January 2022 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

It is recommended that the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  
 
1. Celebrates the fact that £252,909 has been secured to run publicity campaigns and 

hold activities in the South Kesteven town centres to boost footfall and encourage 
people back on to the High Streets safely and thereby supporting local businesses.  
 

2. Considers whether there is any advice for the Welcome Back Fund Officer Working 
Group as part of their continued review and refinement of additional measures.  

55

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan (2020-2023) amplifies support for local 
businesses and aims to attract high levels of footfall to the district, to help grow the local 
economy and ensure the area remains a key tourist destination in the United Kingdom. 
 

1.2 On 20 March 2021, the Government launched a Welcome Back Fund which was merged 
with the previously announced Reopening High Streets Safely Fund. Both backed by the 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and aimed at helping boost the look and 
feel of high streets and seaside towns. Funding is targeted at helping councils prepare for 
the safe return of shoppers and tourists. European funds require all promotional materials 
produced to carry the European Union logo to acknowledge their support. 
 

1.3 £252,909 was allocated to South Kesteven District Council by the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing & Communities and is re-claimed from Government on evidence of compliant 
expenditure, in accordance with guidance. 
 

1.4 Government encouraged an action plan approach and issued an accompanying eligibility 
criterion specified on six areas. The Fund allows the Council to put in place additional 
measures to create and promote a safe environment for local trade and tourism, particularly 
in high streets. Accordingly, all activities must be linked to the Government-approved action 
plan and form part of the Council’s overall response to the pandemic. This is to align with 
the ERDF framework, under which the Welcome Back Fund is financed.  
 

1.5 On 9 November 2021, Cabinet approved the activities to benefit from the Fund. A cross-
council and InvestSK Limited working group was established shortly thereafter to support 
the processes, delivery and administration of the programme of works to meet the Fund’s 
objectives and identify risks. 
 
Resource implications 

1.6 Whilst there is cross-council and InvestSK Limited participation, the overall programme is 
being led and coordinated by the Growth and Culture Directorate who are:  
 The liaison point with Government 
 Collating the required evidence from project leads 
 Coordinating (and ultimately submitting) finance and output claims to Government 
 Providing advice on eligible activities to project leads. 

 

1.7 Individual projects are led by officers from relevant services or InvestSK Limited, who are:  
 Keeping accurate and required records of all spend and activity 
 Ensuring their component project is delivered in line with the Fund requirements and 

eligibility 
 Providing relevant evidence and information to the Growth and Culture Directorate  
 Procuring services in line with Fund requirements 
 Managing and overseeing all aspects of operational delivery.  

 

1.8 Due to the nature of the projects, multiple services are involved in delivery across the 
activities, such as: Street Scene, InvestSK Limited, Communications, Leisure and Cultural 
Services. 
 

1.9 To best achieve the desired outcomes and ensure the criteria of the funding met it is 
intended that all activity is procured externally rather than using internal staff due to capacity 
and the added complexity of claiming back staff time. Whilst this requires an element of 

56



 

 
 

resources from procurement, every effort is being made to minimise resource requirements 
due to known limitations on existing capacity. The use of existing frameworks and ensuring 
costs can be defrayed within the immovable deadline of end of March 2022 are being 
deployed. This approach includes breaking down work into smaller contracts (where 
practicable and appropriate to do so) that can be purchased without the need for an open 
tender.  
 
Proposed activities 

1.10 The proposed activities, developed by the working group and in line with the six areas 
specified by Government, are illustrated in Table 1 below:  
 

Table 1: Proposed activities (for illustrative purposes only, and subject to change) 

Government eligibility criterion 1: Support to develop an action plan for how the 
Council may begin to safely reopen the local economy 

Item Town(s) 

Collaboration with town councils and business groups 
across South Kesteven to implement a range of activities 

All 

Government eligibility criterion 2: Communications and public information activity 
to ensure that reopening of local economies can be managed successfully and 
safely 

Item Town(s) 

Structural stability survey and purchase of estimated 100 
Lamppost column brackets along with banner campaigns 
potentially featuring local traders  

All 

Government eligibility criterion 3: Business-facing awareness raising activities to 
ensure that reopening of local economies can be managed successfully and safely 

Item Town(s) 

Series of festive events  All 

Shop Stamford Radio Campaign Stamford 

Angels on Tour (1 February - 31 March) ALL (excluding Grantham) 

Deepings Fun Day (16 February) Market Deeping 

Youth Festival (18 February) Bourne 

Arts Festival (18 February) Stamford 

Youth Festival (19 February) Grantham 

SK Let’s Move Challenges (5 March) ALL 

Welcome Back Folk Festival and trial market (19 March) Grantham 

Bourne Light Night (19 March) Bourne 

Stamford Mid-Lent Fair (26-31 March) Stamford 

Grantham Mid-Lent Fair (26-31 March) Grantham 

Shopping Bags (such as 'Bourne to Shop') All 

Government eligibility criterion 4: Temporary public realm changes to ensure that 
reopening of local economies can be managed successfully and safely 

Item Town(s) 

Replacement waste bins – themed for each town All 

Repair and replacement of benches and street furniture  All 

57



 

 
 

Deep cleaning of public realm All 

Replacement town centre trees where they have been 
damaged or vandalised – estimated 30 trees 

All 

Painting of railings outside of Guildhall Grantham 

Tourism Notice Board Grantham 

Notice Boards outside the Guildhall Grantham 

Planters and hanging baskets  All 

Government eligibility criterion 5: Support to promote a safe public environment 
for a local area’s visitor economy 

Item Town(s) 

Commissioned photography of the four market towns to 
create a library of images for use in promotional, marketing 
and publicity  

All 

Government eligibility criterion 6: Support to develop plans for responding to the 
medium-term impact of COVID-19 including trialling new ideas particularly where 
these relate to the High Street 

Item Town(s) 

Branding brief to differentiate and promote a unique offer  Grantham 

Events Footfall Monitoring Deepings and Bourne 

Town Trails (including research), a small print run and a 
downloadable trail – which could also be added to the Town 
App once this is up and running 

Bourne, Stamford and the 
Deepings 

Town centre shopping apps  All 

 

1.11 Progress to date 
To date, the Working Group has met three times. In the run up to the festive season, a 
separate ‘Events Subgroup’ was formed to coordinate the suite of free events in the town 
centres of Bourne, Grantham, Stamford and The Deepings, with the aim of attracting local 
residents and visitors to the high street. Three notable festive related activities were 
achieved (see Appendix One for images): 
 
  Roadside banners installed throughout the town centres, promoting a safe and 

enjoyable shopping experience 
  The railings outside the Guildhall Arts Centre have received a fresh coat of paint 
  A variety of street performers entertained shoppers in the high streets and 

marketplaces (as illustrated in Table 2 below).  
 

Table 2: 2021 Festive events held 

Date in 2021 Times Location Performer 
    

Thursday 16 December 10am–1pm Bourne Bubble Elf 

Friday 17 December 10am–1pm Grantham Reindeer Stilt Walker 

Monday 20 December 10am-1pm Stamford Stilt Walking Balloon Modelling Elf 

Tuesday 21 December 10am–1pm Stamford  Reindeer Stilt Walker 

Wednesday 22 December 10am–1pm Stamford  Stilt Walking Bubble Elf 

Wednesday 22 December  10am–1pm Deeping Stilt Walking Bubble Elf 

Friday 24 December 10am–1pm Grantham Bubble Elf 

Friday 24 December 10am–1pm Stamford  Circus Elf 

58



 

 
 

 

1.12 Work continues at pace in relation to the remainder of the events programme, as shown in 
Table 3 to follow:  
 

Table 3: 2022 Welcome Back Fund events programme 

Date in 2022 Event Location  New / Enhancement 

1 February - 31 March  Angels on Tour  ALL (excluding 
Grantham) 

New 

11 – 20 February Half-Term Arts 
Programme  

ALL Enhancement 

15 February Deepings Fun Day  Market Deeping New 

19 February Youth Festival  Bourne New 

20 February Youth Festival  Grantham New 

5 March  SK Sports Day  ALL New 

19 March Welcome Back Folk 
Festival 

Grantham New 

19 March Bourne Light Night  Bourne New 

26 – 31 March  Stamford Mid-Lent 
Fair   

Stamford Enhancement 

26 – 31 March Grantham Mid-Lent 
Fair  

Grantham Enhancement 

 

1.13 Of note is the proposed Welcome Back Folk Festival on 19 March 2022. This will be a 
daytime, family-friendly music festival, supporting events and food, and an enhanced market 
offer in the Grantham Market Place. This is expected to bring in additional footfall to both 
support and enhance the Saturday market and town retailers.  In the evening, the event will 
move indoors to the pubs and bars of Grantham.  
 

1.14 The Welcome Back Fund will be supporting the event coordination, promotion and the costs 
of the artists appearing at individual venues.  The venues will manage ticketing (if required 
due to capacity/COVID-19 restrictions) and event management at the gigs. This approach 
will support and boost the night-time economy in the town. As the evening is less family-
focussed, it is anticipated there will be limited impact upon the Bourne Light Night event.  
Event staffing can move from Grantham to Bourne on the day. 
 

1.15 Following a successful procurement exercise, appointments have already been made for 
the branding brief and town centre photography commission (see Table 1).  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The first phase of initiatives and activities to help the recovery of Bourne, Grantham, 
Stamford and The Deepings were delivered over the festive period. To avoid duplication 
and to complement planned events, there was (and will continue to be), engagement with 
the Business Clubs, Town Councils, local business owners and leaders. 
 

2.2 As a result of the consultation and feedback received, it was agreed that a marketing and 
promotions campaign involving community and visitor events was worthy of coordinating, 
along with a programme of maintenance and environmental improvements. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council could have chosen not to accept the grant and not implement initiatives and 
activities. However, it was deemed unlikely that there would be another opportunity to 

59



 

 
 

access this type of funding in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the prospect of rejecting 
unmatched investment into town centres was discounted as an option.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The Corporate Plan (2020-2023) commits to residents and businesses being at the heart of 
all that the Council does. The planned programme of initiatives and activities directly 
contributes to this promise by ensuring that town centres are safe, appropriately promoted 
and well managed. The Government award supports the Council’s ambitions to protect and 
create jobs, develop the four town centres and high streets, and celebrate the rich heritage 
and culture of the district. Accordingly, the one-off Welcome Back Fund presents a great 
opportunity to invest in the recovery of South Kesteven’s four market towns. 

5 Reason for the Recommendations 

5.1 A key element of the Corporate Plan is delivering sustainable growth of the economy. As 
part of the COVID-19 response, the Council has recognised the importance of supporting 
the safe reopening of businesses in South Kesteven and welcoming back the community 
and visitors to tourism areas. 
 

5.2 The Welcome Back Fund must be spent by 31 March 2022 and the plan outlined in this 
report will make best use of these restricted funds. All stakeholders are supportive of the 
plans and officers will continue to liaise throughout the lifetime of the programme. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 To consider the advice offered by the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee as part of the continued review and refinement of additional measures to create 

and promote a safe environment for local businesses (particularly in high streets), as well 

as encourage local people to revisit key tourism areas safely. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The Welcome Back Fund will be used to support high streets across the four South 
Kesteven towns, as well as to encourage visitors, particularly in the later part of the 2021/22 
year, when trade is needed to sustain businesses over the Winter and Spring months. The 
Fund must be spent by 31 March 2022.  The plans outlined in this report will make best use 
of this restricted fund.  
 

7.2 Whilst there is no match-funding requirement from the Council, grant funding is only 
claimable in arrears, after the correct evidence has been sent to Government and approved. 
As such, all activity must be funded up front from within current budgets.  There is a Funding 
Agreement in place between the Government and the Council which sets out clear and 
detailed criteria that must be adhered to in order to ensure the grant can be claimed 
successfully.  It is also important to ensure the Council does not create on-going financial 
obligations beyond the agreed funding and therefore the use of the fund should be of a one-
off nature.     
 

7.3 Procurement of works will ensure compliance with ERDF regulations. The proposed 
allocations set out in this report aim to fully spend all available grant.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 gives the Council a general power of competence to do 

anything that individuals may generally do. 

60



 

 
 

8.2 The Council must comply with all laws, regulatory requirements and guidance on COVID-

19 when delivering the programme. There are other Legal considerations in the holding of 

some activities which officers are fully aware of. 

8.3 Failure to comply with any grant conditions will constitute an event of default which would 

allow the Secretary of State to terminate the grant funding agreement, cease further grant 

payments or seek to clawback grant monies paid. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Most of the project activities are based outdoors and designed to be COVID-safe, inclusive, 
and accessible for people with disabilities. 
 

9.2 Due regard to protected characteristics will be incorporated within the programme of 
activities. Engagement around the shared vision and dynamic action plan will be developed 
to ensure inclusivity. 
 

9.3 The activities within the programme cater for people from all sectors of the community, for 
which there is a diverse range of events planned. Issues such as physical access are 
detailed in event plans where applicable. Where relevant, event organisers will be required 
to complete an Equalities Impact Assessment. Events will consider their audience and the 
additional adaptations required to ensure an inclusive environment e.g. posters and 
documentation converted into other languages. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 As the source of the monies for the Welcome Back Fund is ERDF, there are stringent 
constraints on how the money can be spent. If the criteria of the Fund is not strictly adhered 
to, processes around procurement not followed and the correct evidence not provided, the 
Council will not be able to claim back the money spent upfront. Several officers involved in 
the delivery of this Fund have been involved in ERDF funded projects over the last decade 
and are comfortable with the Fund’s requirements and will ensure delivery is compliant.   
 

10.2 The Fund has the following high-level constraints that has helped shaped activity:  
 
 It is revenue expenditure and as such cannot be spent on capital items 
 Activities delivered cannot be permanent changes; they must be an immediate response 

to the COVID-19 crisis 
 All activity must be state aid compliant 
 Must be additional, new activity – cannot substitute planned or current expenditure 
 Must adhere to ERDF procurement and programme rules 
 Must adhere to ERDF and Government branding guidelines 
 Cannot be used to support specific businesses 
 Whilst activity does not have to be focused directly on areas adjacent to commercial 

properties, they must be in town centres 
 Internal Council recharges are ineligible 
 All activity needs to be linked to an action plan or part of the current strategy 
 This is not a grant scheme. This means no grants can be given to anyone unless they 

are strictly through a service level agreement to established Business Improvement 
Districts (BIDs) and parish and town councils. 

 

61



 

 
 

10.3 The Council had to submit an outline plan to Government. The high-level content which 
mirrors the activity as outlined in this report, was discussed and agreed by Cabinet 
Members. The activities were signed off by the Government Welcome Back Fund Team as 
eligible expenditure, removing any risk of proposed activity not meeting Fund criteria. This 
therefore ensures that if wider processes are adhered to, the Council will be able to claim 
all monies back for the cost of agreed activities.   
 

10.4 There is a risk that procurement will not identify appropriate providers. By way of mitigation, 
this work is similar and complementary to ongoing regeneration and economic growth 
initiatives and should attract quality tenders. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 For phase one, securing this funding meant the Council could help families by providing free 
entertainment over the school holidays and support local businesses. It was anticipated that 
the events would be popular, therefore everyone was encouraged through media releases 
and the street banners (detailed in the main body of the report) to continue to stay safe and 
socially distance. 
 

11.2 Any events, performances and festivals that take place during the COVID-19 pandemic will 
follow the government’s guidelines and COVID-secure advice.  Due consideration will be 
given to the restrictions in place when planning the events which may have changed by the 
time the event takes place.  
 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Several the projects have specific environmental credentials such as the purchase of LED 

Lighting, the promotion of Car Free Days etc. Efforts will be made to source any materials 

from sustainable, Climate Friendly sources. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 Public Health: The diverse range of community and visitor events has the potential to 

contribute positively to the health and well-being of participants and audiences. This 

includes the direct benefits of taking part in physical activity events such as running, walking, 

cycling or socialising. Furthermore, events can contribute to a sense of community, local 

pride and cultural identity which can have a positive impact on the well-being of those 

involved. Where relevant, all events will meet COVID safe requirements in accordance with 

national guidance at the time. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Allocation of the Welcome Back Fund 2021/22, Report to Cabinet, published on 9 November 
2021, available online at:  
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31494/Allocation%20of%20the%20W
elcome%20Back%20Fund%20202122.pdf  

14.2 Welcome Back Fund Action Plan, published on 9 November 2021, available online at:  
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31495/Appendix%20A%20Welcome
%20Back%20Fund%20Action%20Plan.pdf 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One: Images from 2021 Festive events and interventions   

62

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31494/Allocation%20of%20the%20Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20202122.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31494/Allocation%20of%20the%20Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20202122.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31495/Appendix%20A%20Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20Action%20Plan.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s31495/Appendix%20A%20Welcome%20Back%20Fund%20Action%20Plan.pdf


Page 1 of 8 
 

Appendix One: Images from 2021 Festive events and interventions   

 

Welcome Back Fund: Festive period 2021 

As part of the national program of Welcome Back funding supplied by the European 

Regional Development Fund (ERDF), South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has 

been awarded circa £250,000 for the delivery of projects which welcome residents and 

visitors back to town centres to socialise, shop, and work safely. South Kesteven 

District Council created a team and they agreed to design and hang Christmas 

banners, provide festive street entertainment, and commission a photography project.  

Christmas banner campaign:  

As part of the welcome back fund, Christmas banners were designed and placed in 

Bourne, Grantham, Market Deeping and Stamford. Grantham had 36 lamppost 

banners containing three different designs. Market Deeping had two lamppost 

banners. Bourne and Stamford had two railing banners with different designs on each. 

These brought a colourful festive feeling to each town.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63

Appendix 1



Page 2 of 8 
 

Festive Entertainers:   

To spread the Christmas joy, festive entertainers were provided to each market town. 

These were well-received, and the festive cheer was shared over social media. The 

entertainers walked around each of the towns playing music and entertaining children, 

families, and those at work.  

 

 

Date Times Location Performer 

Thu 16 Dec 10am – 1pm Bourne Bubble Elf 

Fri 17 Dec 10am – 1pm Grantham Reindeer Stilt Walker 

Mon 20 Dec 10am – 1pm Stamford Stilt Walking Balloon Modelling Elf 

Tue 21 Dec 10am – 1pm Stamford  Reindeer Stilt Walker 

Wed 22 Dec 10am – 1pm Stamford  Stilt Walking Bubble Elf 

Wed 22 Dec 10am – 1pm  Market Deeping Stilt Walking Reindeer 

Fri 24 Dec 10am – 1pm Grantham Bubble Elf 

Fri 24 Dec 10am – 1pm Stamford  Circus Elf 

64



Page 3 of 8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

65



Page 4 of 8 
 

Photography Project:  

As part of the Welcome Back Fund program SKDC commissioned photography 

services to provide high quality and engaging images of town centres, businesses, 

and attractions within South Kesteven’s four market towns – Grantham, Bourne, 

Stamford, and Market Deeping/Deeping St James.  

Through this photography commission, SKDC are seeking to create a library of images 

which highlights the best that the district’s market towns have to offer.  Showcasing 

bustling high streets, beautiful architecture and heritage, fantastic green spaces, and 

welcoming and inviting retail and hospitality.  

The commission entails two phases of photography work, the first completed in 

December.  We now have up to date images of the Christmas lights in each town 

which can be used for promotion of the district in a variety of formats including, but not 

limited to: print media, online and social media, decorative display, street banners and 

signage. The second phase of photography begins in early March.  

 

 

66



Page 5 of 8 
 

67



Page 6 of 8 
 

68



Page 7 of 8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

69



Page 8 of 8 
 

Spruce-up to encourage visitors to return to the high street 

As part of improvements to town centres, specialist contractors have spent the last 

few weeks sanding and painting railings and installing new information boards outside 

the Guildhall in Grantham.   

 

 

 

70



Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2021/22 

WORK PROGRAMME 

 

MEMBERSHIP – 7 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

1 February 2022 

Corporate Plan Key 
Performance 
Indicators – Mid 
Year Update and 
Outcome of Review 

South Kesteven District Councils 
performance against the Corporate Plan Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
Lead Officer: Ben Russell 

To retain oversight of the 
performance management 
arrangements at a strategic 
level 
 
To review the Corporate 
Plan actions and Key 
Performance Indicators. 

 A High Performing 
Council 

Merits of a Council-
run Deeping Market 

To identify a practical and strategic way 
forward to achieve the full value of a Council-
run market in the Deepings.  
 
Lead Officer: Paul Stokes 

to highlight the 
issues and opportunities 
specific to a council-run 
market in The Deepings  
and to make 
recommendations that will 
help address the challenges 
faced.  

 

Growth and our 
Economy 

Welcome Back 
Fund: Update and 
Next Steps 

To update members on the Welcome Back 
Fund activities undertaken, and those 
planned, in relation to the council’s £252k 
allocation from the European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) to support the 
safe return to high streets and help build 
back better from the pandemic.  
 

To note the past and future 
spend on the Welcome 
Back Fund projects 
 
To review alignment to the 
Corporate Plan (2017-2020) 
key action around working 
with partners and attractions 

 Growth and our 
Economy 

71

A
genda Item

 10



REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

Lead Officer: Jon Hinde and Jade Hope to promote the visitor 
economy and increased 
visitor spend in the district.  

5 April 2022 

Review of local 
outdoor markets as 
the Council seeks 
to maintain their 
viability 

To review the Council’s efforts to maintain 
markets in all three towns and discuss 
market provision across the district 
 
Lead Officer: Paul Stokes 

To consider the merits of 
introducing a Deepings 
Market.  
To review the focus on 
reducing the markets’ net 
operating costs and 
opportunities to increase 
traders and other 
commercial ventures, such 
as the markets in Wyndham 
Park, and put forward 
recommendations to 
Cabinet as necessary  

 

Growth and our 
Economy 

Update on Heritage 
Action Zone 
Project  

To oversee and scrutinise the overall 
direction of the Heritage Action Zone Project 
and explore how the promotion of the 
historical value of South Kesteven, including 
the Spitalgate Heath archaeological finds, 
can be incorporated into the project 
 
Lead Officer: Claire Saunders and Jon 
Hinde 
 

To review proposed activity, 
including the cultural 
programme scheduled 
across the year, and put 
forward recommendations to 
Cabinet as necessary 
 

Chairman’s request 
July 2021 
 

Growth and our 
Economy/ Healthy 
and strong 
communities 

Agree future 
phases of the Arts 
Review  

To oversee and scrutinise the general 
programmes at Stamford and Grantham Arts 

To explore ways to reduce 
the deficit (such as through 
external funding 

Chairman’s request 
August 2021 
 

Growth and our 
Economy 
 

72



REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

Centres and the Bourne Corn Exchange, 
opening hours and work plan 
 
Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield 
 

opportunities) and widen 
residents’ participation in a 
new programme of activities 
and agree future phases of 
the Arts Review 

June 2022 

Corporate Plan Key 
Performance Year 
End Update 

South Kesteven District Councils 
performance against the Corporate Plan Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 
Lead Officer: Ben Russell 

To retain oversight of the 
performance management 
arrangements at a strategic 
level 
 

 A High Performing 
Council  

Performance of 
LeisureSK Ltd 

Six monthly update on the performance of 
LeisureSK Ltd 
 
Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield and LeisureSK 
Ltd 

To consider the 
performance of LeisureSK 
Ltd 

Chairman’s request 
June 2021 

Healthy 
and strong 
communities 

Sport and Physical 
Activity Strategy 

To receive an update on the Sports and 
Physical Activity Strategy action plan  
 
Lead Officer: Emma Sharpe and LeisureSK 

To scrutinise performance 
on how the Council, 
together with partners, is 
delivering improvements in 
the provision and 
participation levels of sport 
and physical activity across 
the district 

 Healthy 
and strong 
communities 

Wider Leisure 
Portfolio 

To receive the condition surveys for Bourne, 

Grantham and Stamford  

Lead Officer: Karen Whitfield and LeisureSK 
Ltd 

To scrutinise and make 
recommendations to 
Cabinet which will 
strengthen any investment 
proposals and maximise the 
opportunities for the people 

 Healthy 
and strong 
communities 

73



REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE 
ORIGINATED/COM
MITTEE HISTORY 

DATE(S) 

CORPORATE/ 
PRIORITY 

of South Kesteven to get fit 
and enjoy sport.  

POTENTIAL FUTURE ITEMS 

Tourism Strategic 
Framework 

To discuss content for inclusion in a Tourism 
Strategic Framework to assist and promote 
growth in South Kesteven’s visitor economy 
to 2023 
 
Lead Officer: Jon Hinde  

To identify future 
opportunities and suggest 
actions needed to support 
the sector in a structured 
and consistent manner 

 Growth and our 
Economy 

74



REMIT 

The remit of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist 

with the development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

• Arts 

• Heritage 

• Markets and Fairs 

• Sports 

• Visitor Economy 

 

 

 

 

  

75



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 September 2021
	Minutes

	5 Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre on 30 November 2021
	Minutes

	6 Updates from the previous meeting
	7 Corporate Plan Key Performance Indicators – Mid Year Update and Outcome of Review
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Merits of a Council-run Deeping Market
	9 Welcome Back Fund Update and Next Steps
	Appendix 1

	10 Work Programme 2021 - 2022

